N-GLYCAN-DEPENDENT APICAL TRAFFICKING OF THE SIALOMUCIN ENDOLYN

by

Beth Ann Potter

B.S., Mount Union College, 2001

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of The School of Medicine in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2006

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

This dissertation was presented

by

Beth Ann Potter

It was defended on

September 12, 2006

and approved by

Dr. Gerard Apodaca Department of Medicine, Renal-Electrolyte Division

Dr. Rebecca Hughey Department of Medicine, Renal-Electrolyte Division

Dr. Paul Kinchington Department of Ophthalmology

Dr. Martin Schmidt Department of Molecular Genetics and Biochemistry

Dr. Ora Weisz Dissertation Advisor/Committee Chair Department of Medicine, Renal-Electrolyte Division

N-glycan-dependent apical trafficking of the sialomucin endolyn

Beth Ann Potter, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2006

Crucial to the function of polarized epithelial cells is the generation and maintenance of distinct protein populations at the apical and basolateral domains. Cellular mechanisms sustain this polarity by properly sorting apical and basolateral proteins in both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathways *via* sorting signals inherent within the protein. N-glycosylation has been specifically implicated as one of several sorting signals responsible for delivery of proteins to the apical surface along the biosynthetic pathway. Whether this sorting signal is also used along the postendocytic pathway is currently not known. To examine N-glycan-dependent trafficking along the biosynthetic pathway and explore a possible role for N-glycans in sorting along the postendocytic pathway, this study focuses on the sialomucin endolyn. Characterization of the biosynthetic sorting signal revealed that two glycans at amino acid positions 68 and 74 were necessary and sufficient for apical delivery of endolyn. Terminal processing of N-glycans is also necessary for efficient apical delivery as incubation with kifunensine, a drug that inhibits terminal processing of N-glycans, resulted in the nonpolarized delivery of endolyn. A similar Nglycan-dependent sorting signal was also found to be important for apical recycling of endolyn along the postendocytic pathway. The use of the same sorting signal suggested that endolyn may be sorted in a compartment that is common to both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathway. However, further studies revealed that endolyn is sorted in distinct compartments along these two pathways. These data enhance our understanding of how and where N-glycans mediate apical sorting to maintain the integrity of polarized sorting in epithelial cells.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PRE	EFACE		XI		
1.0	INTRODU	JCTION	1		
	1.1	OVERVIEW	1		
	1.2 POLARIZED EPITHELIAL CELLS				
	1.2.1	MDCK cells: a polarized epithelial model system	5		
	1.3	PROTEIN SORTING ALONG THE BIOSYNTHETIC PATHWAY	6		
	1.3.1	Basolateral Sorting Signals	7		
	1.3.2	Apical Sorting Signals	9		
	1.3	3.2.1 Associations with Lipid Rafts	9		
	1.3	3.2.2 Cytoplasmic Tail Determinants	11		
	1.3	3.2.3 Glycosylation	11		
		1.3.2.3.a O-glycosylation	11		
		1.3.2.3.b N-glycosylation	13		
	1.2.2	1.3.2.3.c Proposed Mechanism for Glycan-mediated Protein Sorting	17		
	1.3.3	Role of Pre-I GN Sorting.	18		
	1.3.4	Protein Sorting in the IGN	20		
	1.3.5	Post-IGN Sorting			
	1.4	SORTING ALONG THE POSTENDOCYTIC PATHWAY	23		
	1.4.1	Basolateral Postendocytic Sorting Signals	24		
	1.4.2	Apical Postendocytic Sorting Signals			
	1.5	THE SIALOMUCIN ENDOLYN			
	1.6	GOALS OF THIS DISSERTATION	29		
2.0	SPECIFIC	CN-GLYCANS DIRECT APICAL DELIVERY OF TRANSMEMBRANE, BUT NO)T		
SOL	LUBLE OR GP	I-ANCHORED FORMS OF ENDOLYN IN MDCK CELLS	32		
	2.1	ABSTRACT	32		
	2.2	INTRODUCTION	33		
	2.3	RESULTS	35		
	2.3.1	Only a subset of endolyn's N-glycans is required for efficient apical sorting	35		
	2.3.2	Role of oligosaccharide processing in endolyn sorting	41		
	2.3.3	Polarized sorting of soluble and GPI-anchored endolyn is N-glycan independent	43		
	2.4	DISCUSSION	49		
	2.4.1	Specific N-glycosylation sites on endolyn are required for apical sorting of endolyn a	along		
	the biosynthet	ic pathway	49		
	2.4.2	Terminal processing of N-glycans is important for apical delivery of endolyn	51		
	2.4.3	Differential sorting requirements for soluble and GPI-anchored endolyn	53		

	2.4.4	Mechanisms for glycan-dependent sorting	54
	2.4.5	Glycans and endolyn function	55
3.0	N-GLYCA	N MEDIATE APICAL RECYCLING OF THE SIALOMUCIN ENDOLYN IN	
POI	LARIZED MD	CK CELLS	57
	3.1	Abstract	57
	3.2	INTRODUCTION	58
	3.3	RESULTS	60
	3.3.1	Internalization of endolyn is not affected by perturbation of terminal glycosylation	60
	3.3.2	Endolyn recycles from common recycling endosomes and late endocytic compartments	s63
	3.3.3	Endolyn does not recycle via the TGN	66
	3.3.4	Polarized recycling of endolyn is N-glycan-dependent	68
	3.3.5	Post-endocytic apical sorting of endolyn relies on terminal sialylation	71
	3.4	DISCUSSION	74
4.0	ENDOLY	N IS SORTED IN DISTINCT COMPARTMENTS WITHIN THE BIOSYNTHETIC	AND
POS	STENDOCYTI	C PATHWAYS	80
	4 1	ABSTRACT	80
	4.2	INTRODUCTION	00
	4 3	RESULTS	01
	431	Anical proteins do not traverse common recycling endosomes along the biosynthetic	02
	pathway	83	
	4.3.2	Apical endocytic compartments are differentially used along the biosynthetic pathway	90
	4.4	DISCUSSION	93
5.0	CONLUS	ONG AND EUTIDE DIDECTIONS	06
5.0	CONLUSI	IONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	90
6.0	MATERIA	ALS AND METHODS	103
	6.1	cDNA constructs	103
	6.2	Cell lines	104
	6.3	ANTIBODIES	104
	6.4	DRUG TREATMENTS	105
	6.5	REPLICATION-DEFECTIVE RECOMBINANT ADENOVIRUSES AND INFECTION	105
	6.6	DETERMINATION OF POLARITY	106
	6.7	DETERMINATION OF DETERGENT INSOLUBILITY	107
	6.8	IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE MICROSCOPY	107
	6.9	INTERNALIZATION ASSAY	110
	6.10	INACTIVATION OF TF- AND WGA-CONTAINING ENDOSOMAL COMPARTMENTS AND ASSESSM	1ENT
0	F SURFACE DELI	VERY	110

BIBLIOGRAPHY113

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 N-glycosylation perturbants 16
--

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	1.1 Structure of polarized epithelial cells vs. hepatocytes	4
Figure	1.2 Sorting to the basolateral surface along the biosynthetic pathway	8
Figure	1.3 Structure of O-glycans and effects of pharmacological perturbants	12
Figure	1.4 Structure of N-glycans and effects of pharmacological perturbants	14
Figure	1.5 Apical and basolateral sorting routes along the postendocytic pathway	25
Figure	1.6 Structure of endolyn	28
Figure	2.1: Characterization of endolyn N-glycosylation mutants.	36
Figure	2.2 Surface polarity of endolyn glycosylation mutants.	38
Figure	2.3 Addition of two glycans to endolyn N-null mutant restores apical transport	40
Figure	2.4 Terminal sugars on N-glycans participate in apical sorting of endolyn	42
Figure	2.5 Apical secretion of a soluble form of endolyn does not require N-glycans	14
Figure	2.6 Apical delivery of EEE _{YA} is N-glycosylation-dependent	16
Figure	2.7 Apical delivery of GPI-anchored endolyn does not require N-glycosylation	18
Figure	3.1 Endolyn is efficiently internalized	52
Figure	3.2 Apically-internalized endolyn colocalizes with basolaterally-internalized transferr	in
in endo	somes	54
Figure	3.3 Newly-synthesized endolyn recycles to the cell surface over a long chase period	56
Figure	3.4 Internalized endolyn does not transit the TGN	57
Figure	3.5 Polarized postendocytic sorting of endolyn is N-glycan-dependent	70
Figure	3.6 The polarity of endolyn is rapidly altered upon cell surface neuraminidase treatme	nt
		73
Figure	4.1 Inactivation of Tf-containing endosomes inhibits surface delivery of VSV-G-YFP 8	35
Figure	4.2 Inactivation of common recycling endosomes in polarized cells disrupts delivery	of
VSV-G	-YFP to the basolateral surface	36
Figure	4.3 Biosynthetifc delivery of endolyn to the apical surface is not disrupted by	зу
inactiva	tion of common recycling endosomes	38
Figure	4.4 Apical biosynthetic delivery of HA is not disrupted by inactivation of commo	on
recyclir	ng endosomes	39
Figure	4.5 Characterization of HRP-WGA internalization conditions) 1

Figure	4.6	Inactivation	of	HRP-WGA	A-containing	compartments	does	not	disrupt	apical
delivery	of er	dolyn								92
Figure	4.7	Biosynthetic a	apica	al delivery	of HA is dis	srupted upon ir	activa	tion	of HRP-	WGA-
containi	ng en	dosomal com	parti	ments						93

PREFACE

This work was possible because of the support of many people. First and foremost, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Ora Weisz, for her mentorship. Her guidance has made me a better scientist and a better person. I have learned a lot from her and I hope our relationship continues in my future endeavors. I would also like to thank Jennifer Bruns for all of her initial work on this project and allowing me to take over the project. Dr. Kelly Weixel has always been there to offer advice on techniques, experiments, writing, and presentations, and I thank her for that. I would also like to thank Dr. Kerry Cresawn for helping me with the inactivation experiments presented in this dissertation. Additionally, I would like to thank my comrades, Mark and Chris, for making life in the lab far more interesting. It has been a pleasure to work with all the members of the Weisz lab, both past and present. I would also like to thank our collaborator Dr. Gudrun Ihrke (Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences) for generating the endolyn N-glycosylation mutants, providing the endolyn antibody, and helping direct this project.

Also having an important impact on this research, was my committee composed of Dr. Apodaca, Dr. Hughey, Dr. Kinchington, and Dr. Schmidt. I thank them for their support, advice, constructive criticism, and enthusiasm.

I would also like to thank my family and friends for their support and encouragement. Though my parents never quite understood my research, they always asked how things were going, and in times of frustration, they always listened. I thank my sister and brother-in-law for my two nieces, Ashley and Abigail, who have brought so much joy into my life. Most of all I would like to thank my husband, Mike. Graduate school has been a roller coaster of emotions and he has kept me laughing through all the good and bad times. He was there for every practice talk and he was even my own personal graphics consultant. I could not have done this without him, and I thank him for his patience, love, and support.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 OVERVIEW

Critical to the proper function of polarized epithelial cells is the division of the plasma membrane into domains, the apical and basolateral, which have distinct protein and lipid compositions. The generation and maintenance of this polarity is largely sustained by cellular sorting mechanisms along the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathways that recognize and sort proteins based on inherent sorting signals. These sorting signals distinguish proteins for delivery to either the apical or basolateral surface. Sorting along the biosynthetic pathway is believed to occur in the most distal compartment of the Golgi complex (the *trans*-Golgi network or TGN) and in post-Golgi recycling endosomes (118). Basolateral biosynthetic sorting signals generally comprise linear peptide sequences in the cytoplasmic portion of the protein and mediate sorting through their interaction with adaptor protein complexes (12, 33, 102, 126). In contrast, apical sorting has been shown to depend on a variety of signals; including cytoplasmically-disposed amino acid motifs; protein association with glycoplipid enriched lipid microdomains (i.e. lipid rafts) through lipid anchors or transmembrane residues; and glycosylation, including both O- and N-glycans (101, 118). Along the postendocytic pathway, apical and basolateral proteins are sorted within common recycling endosomes (37, 148). Although, basolateral proteins use similar sorting signals along these two pathways (8, 93, 106), little research has focused on the sorting of apical proteins along the postendocytic pathway.

The purpose of this dissertation was to further examine the role of N-glycans in apical trafficking along both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathway using the sialomucin endolyn as a model protein. Apical biosynthetic delivery of endolyn in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells requires N-glycans within the luminal domain of the protein (61). After delivery to the surface, endolyn is recycled back to the apical surface, but it is not known whether N-glycans are necessary for this process (61). My major goals were to characterize the biosynthetic N-glycan-dependent apical sorting signal of endolyn, to determine whether N-glycans were important for apical recycling of endolyn, and to determine where along the biosynthetic pathway endolyn is sorted. The following introduction reviews the sorting of apical and basolateral proteins along both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathways and presents the sialomucin endolyn as a model protein for this study.

1.2 POLARIZED EPITHELIAL CELLS

Lining all body surfaces and most internal organs is a layer of tightly apposed polarized epithelial cells. This epithelial layer serves as barrier against pathogens and mediates the unidirectional flow of ions, metabolites, and fluids with and between internal and external environments (128). Such specific interaction with these two very different environments could not be accomplished without the asymmetrical division of the plasma membrane into two domains of distinct proteins and lipid compositions, the apical and the basolateral. The apical domain is found at the apex of the cell and is exposed to the external environment or the lumen of an organ. A high population of glycosphingolipids comprises the apical surface, likely aiding

in protection from the harsher external environment (128). The apical surface of absorptive polarized epithelial cells is commonly populated with microvilli, membranous extensions with actin filaments at their core, which increase the surface area for absorption (157). On the other hand, the basolateral domain comprises the lateral membranes that are in contact with neighboring cells and the basal membrane that is contact with the underlying connective tissue and blood supply. Many of the proteins found in this domain are important for nutrient uptake, cell-cell attachment, and growth control (128). This structural arrangement is found in numerous epithelial cells, including those of the intestine and kidney. Hepatocytes are also polarized, but their structure is different from other polarized epithelial cells (Figure 1.1) (157). In these cells the apical surface forms a continuous network called the bile caniculus between cells that drains bile secreted from the apical surface (157). In all polarized epithelial cells, the apical and basolateral surfaces are separated from one another by tight junctions. These multiprotein complexes form a contiguous structure around the cell that presents a physical barrier to the diffusion of apical and basolateral proteins (125).

The establishment of polarity depends on the segregation of apical and basolateral cargo and specific developmental cues, including cell-cell contact. Vegas et al. showed that in the absence of cell-cell contact, apical components were sequestered in vacuolar apical compartments (VACs) and only upon cell-cell contact does VAC exocytosis occur at sites of cell-cell contact (144). Over a time period, microtubules rearrange into an array displacing the apical surface to the apex of the cell (118). The proteins believed to regulate this process have been identified in pivotal studies with *C. elegans* and *D. melanogaster* and include three complexes;PAR3/aPKC/PAR6, Crumbs3/PALS1/PATJ, and Scrib/mDIg/mLgl (125). Several of



Figure 1.1 Structure of polarized epithelial cells vs. hepatocytes

The apical and basolateral surface in polarized epithelial cells (upper panel) and hepatocytes (lower panel) are outline in green and red, respectively. In polarized epithelial cells, the apical surface is not freely exposed; however, in hepatocytes, the apical surfaces of two adjacent cells form a passage for bile called the bile caniculus.

these proteins are considered to be scaffolding proteins of tight junctions; thus it is believed that the initiation of polarity and the formation of tight junctions are intimately connected (125).

Once polarity is established, tight junctions play a part in maintaining polarity by presenting a physical barrier between the two domains. Polarity, however, is predominantly maintained by the ability of cellular sorting mechanisms to recognize sorting signals inherent within proteins and sort them to either the apical or basolateral domain along both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathways. Defects in the sorting signals of proteins can alter the trafficking of a protein and result in disease. For instance, hypercholesterolemia can occur in a patient due to a point mutation within the basolateral sorting signal of the low density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) (131). Mutant LDLR localizes to the apical surface instead of the basolateral and the patient is unable to remove low density lipoproteins from the blood. Thus, it is important to understand how proteins are properly sorted to understand normal physiology as well as pathological states.

1.2.1 MDCK cells: a polarized epithelial model system

Much of our understanding of how apical and basolateral proteins are differentially sorted and transported has come from studies of Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells. Growth on permeable filter supports allows these renal epithelial cells to form a polarized monolayer similar to an *in vivo* epithelium and enables individual access to the apical and basolateral domains. The sorting capabilities of polarized cells were first revealed when it was shown that enveloped viruses such as influenza and vesicular stomatitis bud specifically from the apical and basolateral surface of MDCK cells, respectively (13). Importantly, this asymmetric budding of enveloped viruses was found to be dependent on the polarized distribution of envelope proteins, suggesting

that these viral proteins contained sorting signals similar to cellular proteins for trafficking to either the apical or basolateral domain (116). MDCK cells have been utilized in numerous studies since their introduction and are used in the experiments presented here. However, even nonpolarized MDCK cells and other nonpolarized cells, such as fibroblasts, appear to have the capacity to sort newly-synthesized apical and basolateral cargo into distinct transport carriers (71, 97, 152, 154). This suggests that protein sorting machinery is universally expressed in all cell types.

1.3 PROTEIN SORTING ALONG THE BIOSYNTHETIC PATHWAY

Newly-synthesized proteins can be delivered to the apical surface by either a vectorial or transcytotic pathway. In the transcytotic pathway, proteins are first delivered to the basolateral surface then internalized and transcytosed to the apical surface. This pathway is used primarily in hepatocytes and to a lesser extent in intestinal and renal cells (157). MDCK cells predominantly use a vectorial pathway to deliver newly-synthesized proteins to the apical surface (157). It has long been thought that proteins along this pathway are sorted into distinct carriers destined for the apical surface from the basolateral surface. Mounting evidence, however, suggests that sorting may not occur exclusively in the TGN. There is evidence to suggest that apical and basolateral cargoes are segregated from one another as early as the ER (2, 137, 145). Other studies present evidence that sorting may occur in post-Golgi recycling endosomal compartments (6, 107). The sorting signals that direct polarized targeting and the three possible sites for sorting along the biosynthetic pathway are discussed below.

1.3.1 Basolateral Sorting Signals

Early work on the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor (pIgR) revealed that the cytoplasmic portion of the protein was important for basolateral sorting (95). A role in basolateral delivery was confirmed when transfer of a specific sequence of amino acids from pIgR to a normally apical protein resulted in its redistribution to the basolateral surface (21). Similar studies were also performed with LDLR, implicating that specific sequences in the cytoplasmic tail of the receptor were necessary and sufficient for delivery to the basolateral surface (60). Subsequent studies revealed that the two critical domains for basolateral delivery of LDLR were dependent on specific tyrosine residues (91). Later, Hunziker et al. revealed that two adjacent leucine residues rather than a critical tyrosine residue was important for sorting the IgG Fc receptor FcRII-B2 to the basolateral surface (58). It is now accepted that basolateral sorting signals rely on specific tyrosine tetrapeptide motifs of the form NPXY and YXX Φ or dileucine motifs ([DE]XXXL[L/I]) in the cytoplasmic portions of proteins, although exceptions do exist. The similarity of these sorting motifs to those used in endocytosis and lysosomal sorting suggested that the recognition of basolateral sorting signals was dependent on adaptor protein (AP) complexes (Figure 1.2). The AP complex family consists of four heterotetrameric complexes (AP-1, AP-2, AP-3, AP-4) that are composed of either a γ , α , δ , ε large subunit, a β large subunit, a μ medium subunit, and a small σ subunit (32). While AP-2 is localized exclusively to the plasma membrane and functions in endocytosis, the remaining complexes associate with both the TGN and endosomal compartments and have been implicated in basolateral delivery as well as delivery from the TGN to endosomal compartments (5, 102, 108, 126).



Figure 1.2 Sorting to the basolateral surface along the biosynthetic pathway

Tyrosine-based tetrapeptide motifs such as $YXX\Phi$ and dileucine motifs of the form [DE]XXXL[L/I] are found in the in the cytoplasmic domains of basolateral proteins. It is believed that these motifs associate with adaptor (AP) complexes (shown in blue) which interact with a host of cellular proteins, including clathrin (shown in yellow), that are important for the formation of vesicles that are destined for the basolateral surface.

1.3.2 Apical Sorting Signals

Delivery to the apical surface is based on a more diverse group of sorting signals than found for basolateral sorting. Signals can be found in the cytoplasmic, transmembrane, or lumenal domains and rely on associations with lipid rafts, sequence motifs, or glycosylation including O-glycans as well as N-glycans.

1.3.2.1 Associations with Lipid Rafts

It was noted very early that the apical surface is largely populated with glycosphingolipids and that the aggregation of these lipids in the TGN could facilitate sorting of proteins to the apical surface (141). Multiple groups first demonstrated that transference of the GPI-attachment sequence of several proteins could confer an apical distribution to basolateral and neutral proteins, suggesting that the GPI-anchor may in fact be a sorting signal (17, 83). In accordance, Lisanti et al. showed that glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored proteins are predominantly located at the apical surface (84). However it was Brown et al. who made the connection between lipid and protein when it was found that GPI-anchored proteins could be isolated in cold Triton X-100 insoluble microdomains enriched in sphingolipids (18). Insolubility in cold Triton X-100 has since become a hallmark of an association with lipid rafts. Additionally the high lipid content of rafts allows their flotation to a low density during gradient centrifugation (18, 127). Further examination of lipid rafts revealed that cholesterol is also an integral component (123). Using fluorescence resonance energy transfer techniques, GPIanchored proteins have been shown to organize into discrete domains on the surface that disappear in the absence of cholesterol (143). According to the raft hypothesis, sphingolipids and

cholesterol are clustered together in microdomains or rafts that can move through the bilayer and incorporate GPI-anchored proteins due to the long saturated acyl chain of the GPI-anchor (127).

It also appears that transmembrane residues can mediate associations with lipid rafts for delivery to the apical surface. The best studied example is influenza hemaggutinin (HA), a viral envelope protein. Insolubility of HA in cold Triton X-100 is conferred by a sequence of 10 amino acids in the transmembrane domain of the protein (129, 134). Additionally, HA delivery and its insolubility in ice-cold Triton X-100 can be disrupted by lowering cellular cholesterol levels (70). Another influenza envelope protein, neuraminidase, has also been shown to associate with lipid rafts through its transmembrane domain (76).

There is, however, some resistance to the full acceptance of the protein association with lipid rafts as an apical sorting mechanism (118). GPI anchored proteins lacking their GPI attachment signal are secreted predominantly from the apical surface (89, 111). In Fischer rat thyroid cells, GPI-anchored proteins can be found at the basolateral surface (158). Additionally, transference of a GPI attachment signal to rat growth hormone did not result in apical delivery unless an N-glycosylation site was also present within the protein's lumenal domain (9). A possible explanation for these results was recently published by Paladino *et al.* (109). This group suggests that the specific delivery of raft-associated proteins to the apical and basolateral surface is mediated by protein oligomerization. The authors show that only GPI-anchored proteins that are destined for the apical surface can form high molecular weight complexes upon raft association. Disruption of oligomerization either stabilizes the raft architecture or allows for the coalescence of smaller rafts into larger rafts that could increase the curvature of a budding vesicle and thus designate it for delivery to the apical surface (109).

1.3.2.2 Cytoplasmic Tail Determinants

Recent studies indicate that apical sorting can also be mediated within the cytoplasmic domain of a protein. The first apical protein shown to have an apical sorting signal in its cytoplasmic tail was rhodopsin. Truncation of rhodopsin's cytoplasmic tail resulted in its nonpolarized distribution, and addition of rhodopsin's cytoplasmic domain to a nonsorted protein resulted in an apical delivery of the chimera in MDCK cells (23). Studies with the cytoplasmic domain of a megalin minireceptor revealed that the tail of this protein also contains a cytoplasmic apical sorting signal (133). Guanylyl cyclase C is also trafficked to the apical surface of MDCK cells due to a stretch of 11 amino acids in its cytoplasmic domain (51). However, no consensus amino acid sequence or motif that directs apical targeting of proteins has yet been identified.

1.3.2.3 Glycosylation

Glycosylation is a ubiquitous post-translational modification of many proteins that has been shown to play an important role in protein folding, stability, and protein interactions. However, both in combination and individually, N- and O-glycans have been shown to be important for the delivery of a subset of proteins to the apical surface. In the following sections, the complex structure of both N- and O-glycans and the implications for the role in sorting are reviewed. Additionally, two proposed mechanisms by which glycans mediate sorting are discussed.

1.3.2.3.a O-glycosylation

Mucin-type O-linked glycosylation begins with the addition of N-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc) to a loosely defined consensus site that involves a serine or threonine residue. N-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc) and galactose are then added to form one of several core structures which can be further processed by N-acetyllactosamine, sialic acid, fucose, galactose,

11

GlcNAc, GalNAc, and sulfate to form hundreds of possible linear and branched O-glycan structures (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3 Structure of O-glycans and effects of pharmacological perturbants

Mucin type O-glycosylation occurs in the Golgi complex with the addition of an *N*-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc) residue to serine or threonine (S/T) residues. Because of the heterogeneity of mucin type O-glycans, they are characterized by their core structures. Shown in this diagram are 4 of the common core structures. All 4 structures can be processed further by the addition of *N*-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) and galactose (*N*-acetyllactosamine); however, only core 2 can be poly-*N*-acetyllactosaminylated. All core structures can be further modified by fucose, sialic acid, galactose, GlcNAc, GalNAc, and/or sulfate. There are two known inhibitors of O-glycan synthesis. 1-68A inhibits the transferase responsible for the initial addition of GalNAc to Ser/Thr. Benzyl-N-acetyl- α -galactosaminide (BGN) acts as an acceptor substrate for both galactosyl- and sialyl transferases, and thus, competes with endogenous glycoprotein substrates to inhibit O-glycan elongation.

A role for O-linked glycans in protein sorting has been implicated in several mutagenesis studies. Yeaman *et al.* observed that deletion of an O-glycan-rich stalk region of the neurotrophin

receptor p75 was necessary for accurate apical delivery of this protein in MDCK cells (153). Interestingly, this region was also required for apical secretion of a truncated, secreted mutant of p75 (153). Similarly, a combination of the transmembrane domain and adjacent O-glycosylated stalk of the apical membrane hydrolase sucrase-isomaltase (SI) is sufficient to direct apical delivery of the protein (67). Moreover, this region of SI confers apical sorting when attached to rat growth hormone, a normally nonpolarized protein (130).

Other studies have used a pharmacological approach to examine the role of O-glycans in polarized biosynthetic sorting; however, a serious limitation is the lack of a selective inhibitor of O-glycosylation. Recently a compound, 1-68A, was identified that inhibits ppGaNTases but appears to have serious effects on cell function because even short term treatment with this drug induces apoptosis (43). A more commonly used drug to perturb O-glycan structure is benzyl-N-acetyl- α -galactosaminide (BGN) and the related compound phenyl-N-acetyl- α -galactosaminide. These membrane permeant drugs are recognized by galactosyltransferases and sialyltransferases as efficient acceptors and thus competitively inhibit the elongation of endogenous GalNAc residues on O-glycans (54). However a recent study suggests that N-glycan processing is also affected, making it difficult to interpret studies using these drugs (55).

1.3.2.3.b N-glycosylation

Upon cotranslational translocation into the ER, a core glycan structure of Glc₃Man₉GlcNAc₂ (where Glc is glucose and Man is mannose) is transferred *en bloc* from a dolichol lipid anchor to a specific consensus site on proteins (Asn-X-Ser/Thr, where X is any amino acid except proline) (Figure 1.4) (74). After transfer to the protein, the three Glc residues and one Man are removed in the ER and additional mannose residues are sometimes removed in the early Golgi. The structures of N-glycans found on mature proteins are quite diverse, although all mature N-

glycans contain at least the Man₃GlcNAc₂-Asn core. N-glycans with five to nine mannose residues are termed high mannose. Those structures with at least five mannose residues and N-acetyllactosamine on only one nonreducing mannose of the core are termed hybrid. Complex N-glycans are formed when N-acetyllactosamine is added to the two nonreducing mannose residues in the core structure. GlcNAc can also be added at more than one position on mannose resulting in more branches or antennae, and addition of fucose, sialic acid, and poly N-acetyllactosamine contributes to the heterogeneity of N-glycans.



Figure 1.4 Structure of N-glycans and effects of pharmacological perturbants

The synthesis of N-glycans begins in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) with the generation of the oligosaccharide core (Glc₃Man₉GlcNAc₂) on dolichol pyrophosphate. This core structure is cotranslationally transferred en bloc from dolichol pyrophosphate to an asparagine residue within the specific consensus sequence Asn-X-Ser/Thr (NXS/T). As the newly synthesized protein moves through the ER, the core oligosaccharide structure is processed. Initially, ER glucosidases I and II remove the three glucose residues. Before exiting the ER, ar-mannosidase I removes one of the core mannose residues. Upon entering the Golgi complex, mannose residues can be further trimmed. Some glycans maintain a high-mannose form (Man₅₋₉GlcNAc₂), whereas others are trimmed further by Golgi ar-mannosidases I and II, then modified by the addition of galactose and GlcNAc (*N*-acetyllactosamine) to one (hybrid) or two or more arms (complex) of the glycan. *N*-acetyllactosamine can be added repeatedly, resulting in poly-*N*-acetyllactosamine chains of varying length. Further terminal processing can occur with the addition of sialic acid or fucose.

Pharmacological drugs (Table 1.1) and mutant cell lines that perturb the N-glycan processing pathway and mutagenesis techniques have been useful in implicating a role for N-glycans in apical sorting. N-glycans were strongly implicated in apical sorting when Scheiffele et al. demonstrated that rat growth hormone, a nonglycosylated neutral protein, could be converted to an apical protein by the addition of two N-glycosylation consensus sites (122). The first endogenous protein shown to be trafficked to the apical surface in an N-glycan-dependent manner was gp80/clusterin (138). Apical secretion of this protein was disrupted when cells were treated with tunicamycin, a potent inhibitor of N-glycan core synthesis (138). Further characterization of the N-glycan-dependent sorting signal using glycosidase inhibitors and the mutant cell line MDCKII-RCA^r demonstrated that core glycan structures, rather than the terminal or penultimate saccharides were critical for proper apical sorting (112, 146). Delivery of the sialomucin endolyn to the apical surface was also shown to be disrupted upon treatment with tunicamycin and was the first transmembrane protein shown to rely on an N-glycan-dependent apical sorting signal (61). It has also been shown that the terminal processing of N-glycans is necessary for the apical sorting of gp114 (79). With a few proteins, specific N-glycans within the protein were found to be important for apical sorting. For instance, it was shown that only one of three N-glycans was important for apical secretion of erythropoietin (73). In another case, mutagenesis of three out of the four N-glycan consensus sequences from the neuronal glycine transporter (GLYT2) resulted in the nonpolarized distribution of this protein in MDCK cells Thus there appears to be specificities in the structure and the number of N-glycans (88). necessary for the N-glycan-dependent delivery of apical proteins. Requirements for the N-

glycan-dependent delivery of endolyn were examined in this study and are presented in Chapter 2.

Inhibitor	Abr	Mechanism	Effect				
Tunicamycin	ТМ	This analog of GlcNAc inhibits the first step in the synthesis of the core oligosaccharide by disrupting addition of the first GlcNAc residue to dolichol phosphate.	N-glycosylation does not occur				
Deoxynojirimycin	DNJ	Inhibits ER glucosidase I from removing the terminal glucose residue from the core oligosaccharide and thus prevents subsequent trimming by glucosidase II.	Proteins display a glucosylated high mannose N-glycans				
Castanospermine	CST	Like DNJ, this drug inhibits ER glucosidases.	Proteins display a glucosylated high mannose N-glycans				
Deoxymannojirimycin	DMJ	An analog of mannose, this drug inhibits the removal of core mannose residues by inhibiting ER α -mannosidase I and Golgi α -mannosidase I.	Only high mannose N-glycans are synthesized				
Kifunensine	KIF	Only high mannose N-glycans are synthesized					
Swainsonine	SW	Inhibits Golgi mannosidase II	Prevents the conversion of hybrid N-glycans to complex.				
Benzyl-N-acetyl-α- galactosaminide	BGN	This drug acts an acceptor substrate for both galactosyl- and sialyltransferases and thus competes with endogenous glycoprotein substrates.	Elongation and sialylation of hybrid and complex N-glycans is inhibited; also affects O- glycosylation.				

Table 1.1 N-glycosylation perturbants

1.3.2.3.c Proposed Mechanism for Glycan-mediated Protein Sorting

As described above, there is a wealth of information to suggest that both N- and O-glycans play a role in apical targeting. Thus, an important question is then how do these ubiquitous translational modifications specify polarized sorting? No discernable differences have been found between Nglycan structures isolated from apical vs. basolateral membrane proteins, suggesting that there is not a unique saccharide or glycan modification on apical proteins that confers apical targeting information. Thus in the absence of a unifying hypothesis, two models have been proposed to describe the mechanisms by which glycans may enable segregation of proteins into apicallydestined carriers (117). One mechanism proposes that a family of receptors exists that sorts proteins into apically-destined vesicles (117). The receptors could recognize the glycans directly or recognize a proteinaceous conformation that is maintained by the glycans. As yet, however, no such receptor has been definitively defined. An early candidate was VIP36, a lectin originally isolated from lipid rafts; however, contradicting results have been observed for the localization of this protein and its role in apical sorting (31, 35, 44). The MAL proteolipid has been implicated in the apical delivery of a variety of apical proteins, not just glycosylated proteins, suggesting that MAL may be necessary for apical transport but not apical sorting (87). Most recently, a member of the galectin family, galectin-3, was implicated as an apical sorting receptor. Several apical proteins, including p75, gp114, and lactose phlorizin hydrolase, were shown to interact with galactin-3 in a carbohydrate-dependent manner. Additionally, siRNAmediated knockdown of galectin-3 disrupted the expression of these proteins at the apical surface (26, 27). The trafficking of galectin-3, however, makes the role of this protein in apical sorting controversial. Galectins are cytosolic proteins that cannot bind to glycans of proteins within the lumen of the TGN or endocytic compartments. However, these proteins are secreted by a nonclassical pathway and then internalized by binding glycoconjugates. It is not known whether galectins can travel back to the TGN, but it is possible that galectin-3 may affect apical sorting within postendocytic compartments. Thus to define the role of galectin-3 in apical sorting, it is important to determine whether N-glycans are recognized in the TGN or postendocytic compartments along the biosynthetic pathway.

In the second model, glycans facilitate apical sorting by stabilizing a proteinaceous conformation required for sorting in the TGN, perhaps by promoting oligomerization or associations with lipid rafts. In support of this model, addition of N-glycosylation consensus sequences to mutant proteins that were retained in the Golgi complex was found to result in their efficient transport to the apical surface (42, 117). The diversity in requirements (e.g., N- vs. O-glycans, core vs. terminal N-glycan sugars) for glycan-dependent sorting might also argue in favor of a role for glycans in modulating protein conformation; however such a conformation could also be recognized by a receptor in accordance with the first model. At this point definitive evidence that discriminates between these two mechanisms is absent.

1.3.3 Role of Pre-TGN Sorting

Several recent reports using very different approaches have suggested the intriguing possibility that sorting of apical and basolateral cargo may occur in biosynthetic compartments prior to the TGN. Tveit *et al.* recently reported differential processing of apical and basolateral populations of the proteoglycan serglycin in early Golgi compartments in addition to the TGN (137). Proteoglycans are modified by the addition of glycosaminoglycan chains (GAGs) which are composed of a core tetrasaccharide linker which can be sulfated early in the Golgi followed by repeating units of glucoronic acid and either N-acetylglucosamine (heparin sulfate chains) or N-acetyl-galactosamine (chondroitan sulfate chains), which are subsequently sulfated in the TGN

(41). Interestingly, serglycin isolated from the basolateral media contained shorter chondroitan sulfate chains but was more highly sulfated than the apical pool of this proteoglycan (137, 145). GAG chains on basolaterally-delivered serglycin also exhibited primarily 6-O-sulfation versus 4-O-sulfation on the apically-delivered pool (137). Importantly, sulfation of the core tetrasaccharide linker region, which occurs early in the Golgi, was similarly higher in basolateral serglycin (137). These results suggest that apically- and basolaterally-delivered populations of serglycin appear to have differential access to GAG processing machinery prior to transiting the TGN.

Segregation of apical and basolateral cargo in the early Golgi has also been shown by Alfalah *et al.* by demonstrating that fully and incompletely processed forms of apical cargo can be separated from basolateral cargo based on their insolubility in the nonionic detergent Tween 20 (2). In their experiments, several apically-destined proteins were found to be insoluble in Tween 20, whereas basolateral proteins remained soluble (2). The incorporation of newly synthesized apical proteins into Tween 20-insoluble complexes was observed even when cells were incubated at 15°C, which prevents newly-synthesized proteins from leaving the endoplasmic reticulum intermediate compartment (2). Together, these studies suggest that newly-synthesized proteins may access different sorting platforms or microdomains shortly after biosynthesis. However if proteins are segregated early in the biosynthetic pathway, what would be the purpose of having multiple types of apical sorting signals? Additionally, there would still need to be machinery present in either the TGN or recycling endosomes to sort the proteins into apically-destined vesicles.

1.3.4 Protein Sorting in the TGN

Early studies with viral proteins revealed that apical and basolateral proteins traverse the Golgi together and are segregated in a distal compartment of this compartment. Research examining the role of the TGN in sorting has been aided by the ability to stage mature, newly-synthesized proteins in the TGN by a 20°C temperature block (90). Export from the TGN can then be visualized by live cell imaging or isolated biochemically upon warming the cells to 37°C. Using these techniques, two groups were able to show that VSV-G buds from the TGN in tubular structures that are delivered to the plasma membrane in a microtubule-dependent fashion (50, 135). Extending these studies, Keller et al. showed the segregation of apical and basolateral cargo at the level of the TGN and the inclusion of the proteins into distinct carriers (71). Biochemically, TGN-derived apical and basolateral carriers have been isolated and shown to have distinct protein and centrifugation profiles (147). Moreover differential requirements have been observed for the release of TGN-staged apical and basolateral proteins in vitro (11, 77, 152). Release of basolateral carriers has been shown to be dependent on protein kinase D and CtBP3/BARS, which appears to introduce curvature to the TGN membrane (11, 152). On the other hand, annexin XIIIb has been demonstrated to specifically stimulate apical delivery (77). Together these studies suggest that there is a level of segregation that occurs at the level of the TGN.

A relatively recent complication of the model for apical and basolateral protein segregation in the TGN comes from growing evidence consistent with the existence of different pathways for the TGN export of apical proteins with distinct sorting signals. Jacob *et al.* followed the TGN export of two fluorescently-tagged apical proteins that utilize distinct targeting mechanisms: the lipid-raft associated protein sucrase-isomaltase and the non-raft-

20

associated protein lactase-phlorizin hydrolase (69). These two apical proteins initially exited the TGN together in large vesicular compartments that subsequently gave rise to smaller vesicles that preferentially contained either of the two cargoes (69). Subsequent studies revealed that post-TGN trafficking of sucrase-isomaltase but not lactase-phlorizin hydrolase was found to be actin-dependent, although both required microtubules for efficient surface delivery (68). Vesicles containing sucrase-isomaltase were subsequently immunoisolated and proteomic analysis identified the motor protein myosin I and its regulator, α -kinase 1 on these vesicles, consistent with a role for actin in transport of raft-associated cargo (46). Another mechanism for actin involvement in biosynthetic trafficking may involve the generation of actin comets that function to propel transport carriers through the cytoplasm (30). Indeed, vesicles containing raft-associated but not raft-independent apical markers have been observed in association with actin comets in MDCK cells (40, 119). Thus, it appears that multiple sorting pathways to the apical surface may originate from the TGN.

1.3.5 Post-TGN Sorting

While there is certainly evidence that sorting occurs in the TGN, there is growing evidence that proteins may be sorted within endosomal compartments. Several studies over the past several years have shown that basolateral proteins transit endosomal compartments before delivery to the surface along the biosynthetic pathway. First, the transferrin receptor, was shown to localize to horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-labeled endosomes by electron microscopy before delivery to the surface (36). Similarly, H1, the major subunit of the asialoglycoprotein receptor, was isolated from endosomes containing cation-independent mannose-6-phospate receptor before delivery to the surface in nonpolarized cells (81). In polarized cells, Orzech *et al.* found that initial

biosynthetic delivery of the polyimmunoglobulin receptor (pIgR) to the basolateral surface involved transit through an endosomal compartment (107). In these studies, pIgR was radiolabeled and chased in the presence of wheat germ agglutinin conjugated to HRP (WGA-HRP) to selectively label endosomal recycling compartments such as the common recycling endosome and apical recycling endosome. After a time period insufficient for surface delivery, cells were treated with diaminobenzidine (DAB) and hydrogen peroxide. These two reagents then react with the HRP in the endosomal compartments to form an insoluble precipitate that can be removed by centrifugation. A loss of radioactive signal was seen for basolateral delivery of pIgR in the treated samples in comparison to non-treated controls, suggesting that pIgR was trafficking to endosomes before delivery to the basolateral surface. More recently, Ang et al. extended this approach using a combination of live-cell and biochemical techniques to investigate the significance and extent of endosomal transit of the basolateral marker VSV-G in nonpolarized MDCK cells that stably express the human transferrin receptor (6). A yellow fluorescent protein-tagged variant of VSV-G (VSV-G-YFP) was staged in the TGN while fluorescently labeled transferrin was taken up to label recycling endosomes. At this point the two proteins were segregated from one another, but upon warming for 10 minutes, colocalization was observed. This colocalization was confirmed by electron microscopy and coimmunoisolation of VSV-G and transferrin. To determine whether trafficking through endosomes is required for basolateral delivery of VSV-G, Ang et al. internalized transferrin conjugated to HRP into recycling endosomes while staging VSV-G-YFP and then treated cells with DAB and hydrogen peroxide to inactivate the recycling endosome. Cells were then warmed to allow delivery to the surface. Immunofluorescence studies showed a visible decrease in the amount of VSV-G-YFP at the surface in comparison to controls and surface delivery was shown to be inhibited by 80%

using flow cytometry. Live cell techniques were also used to show that vesicles containing Ecadherin fuse with recycling endosomes before delivery to the surface in nonpolarized cells (85).

While the studies discussed above strongly suggest that basolateral proteins are sorted to endosomal compartments, there is little compelling evidence for the involvement of endosomes in sorting apical proteins. Studies have focused on the trafficking of apical mutants of basolateral proteins that still possess sequences which may interact with basolateral machinery. For example, Orzech *et al.* concluded that an apically-directed mutant of pIgR that lacks a casein kinase phosphorylation site traffics indirectly to the cell surface; however this mutant contains an intact AP-1 interaction motif (107). Similarly, Ang *et al.* co-isolated labeled transferrin in compartments that were positive for an apically-delivered mutant of VSV-G; however the APinteracting sequence in this poorly-defined VSV-G variant also remains intact (6). The role of recycling endosomes in apical biosynthetic trafficking was further characterized in this study using two authentic apical proteins, endolyn and influenza hemagglutinin, and is presented in Chapter 4.

1.4 SORTING ALONG THE POSTENDOCYTIC PATHWAY

With nearly 40% of the membrane of MDCK cells is turned over every hour, maintenance of polarity is dependent on polarized sorting along the postendocytic pathway in addition to sorting along the biosynthetic pathway (19). Upon internalization, proteins are first sorted into apical or basolateral early endosomes (94). These structures are defined by the localization of rab4 and EEA1 (94, 132). It is in these structures that ligands disassociate from their receptor due to the acidic pH of this compartment (94). The ligands are sorted to late endosome and lysosomes,

while the membrane receptor is trafficked back to the surface or recycling endosomes (94). Studies show that apical and basolateral cargo access a common recycling endosome and that cargo is sorted back to the appropriate surface. Odorizzi et al. revealed that transferrin receptor (TfR) internalized simultaneously from the apical and basolateral surface meets within an intracellular endosomal compartment and that the majority of the TfR was trafficked to the basolateral surface (105). Futter et al. showed that polyimmunoglobulin receptor (pIgR) internalized from the apical surface also meets with TfR in a common endosomal compartment (37). Furthermore the authors showed that tubules emanating from these structures form buds from clathrin coated domains, similar to that described for polarized sorting at the TGN. This structure is distinct from the apical recycling endosome to which rab11 localizes in the apical pole of the cell (148). Common recycling endosomes are localized to the medial portion of the cell and are slightly acidic (19, 148). From the common recycling endosome, apical cargo is trafficked to the surface via apical recycling endosomes, while basolateral cargo is directly trafficked to surface (148). The trafficking of apical and basolateral proteins along the postendocytic pathway is illustrated in Figure 1.5.

1.4.1 Basolateral Postendocytic Sorting Signals

In comparison to the biosynthetic pathway, very few studies have focused on the identification of sorting signals used in the postendocytic pathway. However, it appears that either the same or at least similar sorting signals are used in both pathways. Matter *et al.* found that deletion as well as mutation of the distal tyrosine-based signal in LDLR inhibited delivery along both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathway, suggesting that the same sorting is used (93).


Figure 1.5 Apical and basolateral sorting routes along the postendocytic pathway

In polarized epithelial cells, apical (green) and basolateral (red) proteins internalized from the surface enter into either apical or basolateral early endosomes (AEE and BEE, respectively). From these compartments, proteins are directly or indirectly routed back to their respective surface. Some apical proteins are indirectly trafficked back to the surface via the apical recycling endosome (ARE). Both apical and basolateral proteins can be trafficked to the common recycling endosome (CRE); thus, to maintain polarity, there must be cellular sorting machinery within this compartment. From the CRE, basolateral proteins are immediately trafficked back to the surface while apical proteins are routed through the ARE.

Aroeti and Mostov showed that mutations in the cytoplasmic domain of pIgR could disrupt biosynthetic basolateral delivery and also cause a reduction in recycling after internalization from the basolateral surface (8). In the case of TfR, the same region was implicated in biosynthetic and postendocytic basolateral delivery; however specific point mutations within this region could selectively inhibit basolateral sorting along the two pathways (106). Given the similarity of these sorting signals to those used in the biosynthetic pathway and the localization of AP-complexes to endosomes, it is believed that these or similar complexes function in postendocytic delivery (94).

1.4.2 Apical Postendocytic Sorting Signals

While those sorting signals used for biosynthetic basolateral delivery of proteins also appear to function in the postendocytic pathway, it is not known whether the same is true for apical sorting. This study presents the first examination of whether N-glycans are involved in apical recycling of proteins using endolyn as a model.

1.5 THE SIALOMUCIN ENDOLYN

This dissertation focuses on role of N-glycans in apical delivery along both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathway. To this end, I used a model protein (endolyn) that is efficiently delivered to the apical surface along both routes. Although the function of this protein is not known, this

mucin-like protein is believed to cycle between the cell surface and lysosomes, suggesting that it has a role at the plasma membrane.

Endolyn is a 78 kD lysosomal type I integral membrane protein consisting of 173 amino acids (62) (Figure 1.6). The lumenal domain is comprised of two mucin-like domains that are connected by a proposed disulfide bond hinge region (62). Within the lumenal domain there are thirty-five possible sites (Ser/Thr) for O-glycosylation and eight consensus sites for Nglycosylation. The short cytoplasmic domain of endolyn is short (13 aa) and the last four residues comprise a tyrosine based tetrapeptide YXX Φ motif (YHTL) that is necessary for delivery to lysosomes (62). Thus, endolyn is found primarily in lysosomes, but a smaller fraction can also be found at the plasma membrane. Studies with the human ortholog of endolyn, CD164, suggest that endolyn does have an important role at the surface. In hematopoietic cells, expression of endolyn at the surface mediates adherence to stromal cells, inhibiting their differentiation (156). It is believed that the downregulation of endolyn from the surface to a more endosomal localization may regulate differentiation of these cells (22).

It is not unusual for a lysosomal protein to be expressed at the surface, as delivery from the biosynthetic pathway is usually directed by two routes: a "direct" pathway from the TGN to late endosomes and then lysosomes, and an "indirect" pathway in which the protein is first delivered to the plasma membrane, internalized, and trafficked along the endocytic pathway to lysosomes (52). Both pathways depend on AP-3, which has been localized to the TGN as well as endosomes (63). Delivery along the direct pathway requires a glycine residue preceding the tyrosine-based lysosomal sorting signal (63). Since, endolyn does not possess a glycine prior to its lysosomal sorting signal, it is delivered to lysosomes primarily via the indirect pathway (62, 63). Indirect trafficking of endolyn was confirmed when inhibition of endocytosis in nonpolarized 3T3 cells resulted in decreased lysosomal delivery (63).



Figure 1.6 Structure of endolyn

Endolyn is a type I transmembrane lysosomal protein. The lumenal portion includes two highly glycosylated mucinlike domains connected by a putative disulfide-bonded loop. The last four residues within the cytoplasmic tail comprise a tyrosine-based tetrapeptide motif of the form $YXX\Phi$.

Lysosomal proteins delivered along the indirect pathway in polarized cells usually transit the basolateral surface due to the similarity between lysosomal and basolateral sorting signals (59). However, a unique trafficking pattern for endolyn was first revealed in WIF-B cells, a hepatocyte cell line. In these cells, all membrane proteins are first delivered to the basolateral surface then internalized and delivered to their correct destination. In contrast to other lysosomal proteins, endolyn was found to transit a subapical compartment before delivery to lysosomes (64). When endolyn was expressed in polarized MDCK cells, antibodies specific for endolyn were internalized from the apical surface while antibodies specific for lamp-2 were internalized from the basolateral surface, suggesting that endolyn is delivered to the apical surface in these cells (61). After internalization from the apical surface, the majority of endolyn is delivered to lysosomes while a significant fraction is recycled to the apical surface (63).

Apical delivery of newly synthesized endolyn in polarized MDCK cells was attributed to endolyn's lumenal domain, and despite the abundance of O-glycosylation, disruption of Nglycosylation with tunicamycin treatment significantly inhibited this delivery (61). Importantly apical delivery of endolyn predominates despite the fact that the lysosomal sorting signal can act as a basolateral sorting signal (61). Thus the N-glycan-dependent sorting signal of endolyn is the only example in which an apical sorting signal naturally dominates over a basolateral sorting signal. Additionally, apical delivery of endolyn is raft-independent as endolyn is soluble in cold Triton X-100 (61). Thus, endolyn is an excellent model protein to study the role of N-glycans in apical trafficking along both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathway.

1.6 GOALS OF THIS DISSERTATION

Polarized epithelial cells provide a barrier against bacterial and viral infection and regulate the transport of metabolites, ions, and solutes between two environments. To facilitate these

functions, polarized epithelial cells uniquely organize their plasma membrane into discrete apical and basolateral domains. The apical surface faces the external or luminal milieu while the basolateral domain is in contact with neighboring cells and the underlying extracellular matrix and blood supply. The distinct composition of these two domains is maintained by cellular sorting machinery that recognizes sorting signals inherent within proteins along both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathways. Sorting of proteins to the basolateral surface along these two pathways relies on specific amino acid motifs within cytoplasmic domains. Little research has focused on apical sorting along the postendocytic pathway; however multiple sorting signals have been proposed for sorting proteins to the apical surface along the biosynthetic pathway. Examples include cytoplasmically-disposed amino acid motifs and protein associations with glycolipid-enriched lipid microdomains (i.e., lipid rafts) through lipid anchors or transmembrane residues. Additionally, both N- and O-glycans have been implicated in the sorting of a subset of proteins. Currently it is not known how glycans mediate apical sorting but it has been proposed that glycans may participate in apical sorting by stabilizing a transport permissive conformation that if preferentially delivered to the apical surface. Alternatively, it has also been proposed that glycans mediate sorting through a receptor-mediated mechanism.

To explore the role of N-glycans in apical sorting, I have studied the apical trafficking of the sialomucin endolyn. Newly-synthesized endolyn is delivered to the apical surface of MDCK cells; and the first goal of this study was to characterize the requirements necessary for the Nglycan-dependent apical sorting of endolyn along the biosynthetic pathway. The second goal of this study was to determine whether N-glycans were important for apical recycling of endolyn, since it has not been whether N-glycans can function as an apical sorting signal along the postendocytic pathway. Additionally, given the growing evidence that sorting may also occur in postendocytic compartments in addition to the TGN, the third goal of this study was to determine whether N-glycans mediate the sorting of endolyn from postendocytic compartments along the biosynthetic pathway.

2.0 SPECIFIC N-GLYCANS DIRECT APICAL DELIVERY OF TRANSMEMBRANE, BUT NOT SOLUBLE OR GPI-ANCHORED FORMS OF ENDOLYN IN MDCK CELLS

2.1 ABSTRACT

The sialomucin endolyn is a transmembrane protein with a unique trafficking pattern in polarized Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells (61). Despite the presence of a cytoplasmic tyrosine motif that, in isolation, is sufficient to mediate basolateral sorting of a reporter protein, endolyn predominantly traverses the apical surface en route to lysosomes. Apical delivery of endolyn is disrupted in tunicamycin-treated cells implicating a role for N-glycosylation in apical sorting. Site-directed mutagenesis of endolyn's eight N-glycosylation sites was used to identify two N-glycans that appear to be the major determinants for efficient apical sorting of the protein. In addition, apical delivery of endolyn was disrupted when terminal processing of N-glycans was blocked using glycosidase inhibitors. Missorting of endolyn occurred independently of the presence or absence of the basolateral sorting signal, as apical delivery was also inhibited by tunicamycin when the cytoplasmic tyrosine motif was mutated. However, we found that apical secretion of a soluble mutant of endolyn was N-glycan independent, as was delivery of glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored endolyn. Thus, specific N-glycans are only essential for the apical sorting of transmembrane endolyn, suggesting fundamental differences in the mechanisms by which soluble, GPI-anchored, and transmembrane proteins are sorted.

2.2 INTRODUCTION

Proper functioning of polarized epithelial cells necessitates the maintenance of differentiated apical and basolateral plasma membranes, which requires appropriate sorting of newly synthesized proteins to these distinct domains. In the biosynthetic pathway, newly synthesized apical and basolateral proteins are sorted upon reaching the *trans*-Golgi network (TGN). Basolateral sorting signals, including some tyrosine-containing tetrapeptide motifs and di-leucine motifs, are generally localized to the cytoplasmically-exposed portions of these proteins (101). These signals are thought to bind directly to adaptor protein complexes, which mediate sorting of the respective transmembrane proteins into basolaterally directed transport vesicles, analogous to the sorting of plasma membrane proteins into endocytic vesicles by AP-2 (12, 33, 126). By contrast, apical sorting signals are less well defined and reside frequently within the membrane- or lumenally-oriented regions of these molecules (101). Membraneembedded signals include GPI-anchors attached to the carboxyl terminus of some proteins and amino acid sequences within the transmembrane domains of other apical proteins. It has been postulated that association with glycolipid-enriched lipid microdomains may play a role in the apical delivery of these proteins (66, 110). In addition, both N- and O-linked glycosylation have been demonstrated to be necessary for the correct apical delivery of several proteins (100, 121, 122, 146, 153).

We have been examining the trafficking of the sialomucin endolyn, a type I transmembrane protein that contains both lysosomal and apical targeting information (61, 64). The lumenal domain of endolyn consists of two highly O-glycosylated mucin subdomains connected by a non-mucin region with a suggested compact structure defined by two disulfide bridges (62). Each of these regions possesses two to four N-glycosylation sites. Endolyn is often

most highly concentrated in lysosomes at steady state, but is found to varying degrees in other endocytic compartments and at the plasma membrane depending on the cell type and state of differentiation (22, 24, 65). Lysosomal delivery of endolyn requires a carboxyterminal YXX Φ motif (62). While the function of endolyn is poorly understood, studies of the human and mouse proteins (also called CD164) in hematopoietic cells and myoblasts, respectively, indicate a role in cell adhesion and cell differentiation highlighting the importance of the plasma membrane pool of the protein (80, 156).

We previously demonstrated that a sizable fraction of newly synthesized endolyn, unlike other lysosomal membrane proteins that contain similar tyrosine sorting motifs, traverses the apical plasma membrane *en route* to lysosomes in polarized MDCK cells (61). This unusual route is not due to lack of basolateral sorting information in the cytoplasmic tail of the protein, as analysis of chimeras demonstrated that endolyn's tyrosine motif can serve as an efficient basolateral targeting signal. Rather, the lumenal domain of endolyn confers dominant apical targeting information that overrides the lysosomal and basolateral sorting information in the cytoplasmic tail in the biosynthetic pathway. Apical sorting of endolyn occurs by a mechanism that does not involve glycolipid rafts, but, intriguingly, requires N-glycosylation of the protein. Endolyn thus represents the first example of a transmembrane protein in which N-glycosylation appears to generate an apical sorting signal that is dominant over basolateral tyrosine motifdependent sorting information.

Here we have examined in detail the structural requirements for glycan-dependent apical sorting of endolyn. Whereas all of endolyn's eight N-glycosylation consensus sequences appear to be glycosylated, only a subset of these glycans was found to be both necessary and sufficient for efficient apical sorting of endolyn. In addition, terminal oligosaccharide processing rather than simply core glycosylation was required for interpretation of the apical sorting information, suggesting that specific receptor-ligand interactions are involved in the process. We also addressed the question whether N-glycans were a general requirement for apical sorting of differentially-tethered forms of the same protein. Interestingly, manufactured soluble and GPI-anchored forms of endolyn were targeted apically independently of N-glycosylation. This indicates that at least two distinct mechanisms exist to sort proteins to the apical surface of MDCK cells. Sorting of transmembrane proteins like endolyn appear to be restricted to one (N-glycan-dependent) mechanism, while secretory and GPI-linked proteins can be sorted in entirely different way(s), possibly in addition to the mechanism used by transmembrane endolyn.

2.3 RESULTS

2.3.1 Only a subset of endolyn's N-glycans is required for efficient apical sorting

Previously, we demonstrated that tunicamycin (TM) treatment dramatically disrupted endolyn polarity in MDCK cells (61). To examine the potential role of individual N-glycans in endolyn sorting, we generated MDCK cell lines stably expressing endolyn mutants in which one or two of the eight N-glycosylation consensus sequences were disrupted by alanine substitution for the respective asparagines(s) (Figure 2.1). To assess the loss of N-glycans, cells were radiolabeled for 3 h prior to solubilization and immunoprecipitation using anti-endolyn mAb. To minimize oligosaccharide heterogeneity and facilitate the electrophoretic analysis, the O-glycosylation inhibitor benzyl 2-acetamido-2-deoxy- α -D-galactopyranoside (BGN) was included during the radiolabeling period. All of the mutants migrated distinctly from wild-type endolyn on SDS- PAGE, with the double mutations resulting in a larger shift than the single mutations, suggesting all eight possible glycosylation sites are normally utilized (Figure 2.1B).



Figure 2.1: Characterization of endolyn N-glycosylation mutants.

A. Schematic of rat endolyn with predicted sites for N- and O-glycosylation indicated according to (61, 64). Numbers indicate the positions of asparagines in N-glycosylation consensus sequences; these sites were mutated individually or in pairs (as indicated by brackets) by substituting alanines for asparagines.

B. Analysis of endolyn glycosylation mutants by SDS-PAGE. MDCK cells expressing the indicated endolyn glycosylation mutants were radiolabeled for 3 h in the presence of benzyl-GalNAc (to reduce oligosaccharide heterogeneity and thus provide sharper resolution of endolyn upon SDS-PAGE), then solubilized, and endolyn immunoprecipitated from lysates using anti-endolyn mAb. The faster migration on SDS-PAGE of all mutants compared with wild type endolyn (white dotted line) suggests that all eight consensus sequences are normally N-glycosylated.

To determine the polarized distribution of these endolyn glycosylation mutants the corresponding cell lines were subjected to domain selective biotinylation after metabolic labeling for 2 h and a 15 min chase (Figure 2.2). Importantly, the fraction of each mutant protein biotinylated at the cell surface (apical and basolateral membranes combined) was similar to wildtype endolyn (with or without tunicamycin treatment), and generally ranged between 10-20% of the total with no statistical difference between any of the cell lines. This suggests that the mutations did not disrupt endolyn folding or cell surface delivery. Only one mutant (N68A/N74A) displayed a cell surface distribution distinct from that of wild-type endolyn (60% vs 73% apical for wild-type endolyn). While the effect of this double mutation did not approach the effect of TM treatment on endolyn polarity (44% apical), the decreased polarity of this mutant was highly reproducible and statistically significant (P<0.001). To further dissect the importance of the N-glycans at positions 68 and 74, we generated endolyn constructs in which these sites were individually mutagenized (N68A and N74A, respectively). Whereas the polarity of N68A was slightly reduced relative to wild-type endolyn (64% vs 71% apical; p<0.02, n=21), the polarity of N74A was indistinguishable from wild-type (71% apical, n=19). Thus, within the context of otherwise fully-glycosylated endolyn, the glycan at position 68 appears to be most critical for glycan-dependent apical sorting of the protein.



Figure 2.2 Surface polarity of endolyn glycosylation mutants.

Duplicate filters of polarized MDCK cells stably expressing wild-type endolyn or the indicated mutant constructs were radiolabeled for 2 h and chased for 15 min prior to domain-selective biotinylation. Tunicamycin (TM) was included 30 min before and during the radiolabeling period in the indicated samples for cells expressing wild-type endolyn. The apical fraction of biotinylated endolyn in each apical/basolateral pair of filters is shown (mean % apical +/- S.E.M.; endolyn, n=37; endolyn+TM, n=11; N26A/N32A, n=11; N68A/N74A, n=30; N86A, n=11; N97A, n=8; N118A, n=11; N144A, n=4). *P<0.001 vs. endolyn by t-test.

To further investigate the role of glycans at positions 68 and 74 in endolyn sorting, we generated an additional panel of endolyn mutants. The parent for these mutants was a construct we call N-null, in which all eight glycosylation sites are mutagenized. Importantly, the distribution of cell surface N-null was non-polarized (Figure 2.3), similar to that of non-Nglycosylated endolyn in TM-treated cells (Figure 2.2). Thus, missorting of endolyn in tunicamycin-treated cells cannot be explained by a global effect on the apical sorting machinery. This is an important control, as a previous study demonstrated that tunicamycin treatment altered the polarity of chromogranin A, a proteoglycan that lacks N-glycans, in MDCK cells (75). Reconstruction of the N-glycosylation consensus sequences at either position 68 or 74 (N68 and N74, respectively) did not restore polarized sorting of endolyn. Strikingly, however, when both N-glycosylation consensus sequences were reintroduced (N68/N74), the resultant construct was sorted with polarity similar to that of wild-type endolyn (70% vs 71%), demonstrating that both glycans contribute to the sorting determinant (Figure 2.3A). Comparison of the N-null mutant with N68/N74 by indirect immunofluorescence after simultaneous binding of anti-endolyn mAb to both surface domains confirms their different distributions: whereas N68/N74 showed preferential apical binding of the antibody like wild-type endolyn, anti-endolyn mAb bound efficiently to both apical and basolateral membranes of cells expressing N-null (Figure 2.3B). We also tested, by surface biotinylation, whether different pairs of glycosylation sites in the nonmucin "knob" domain of endolyn, namely N68/N86 or N74/N86, led to restored apical sorting (Figure 2.3A). Both combinations could partially substitute for N68/N74 with apical polarities of the corresponding mutants of 65% and 62%, respectively.





Filter-grown MDCK cells stably expressing wild-type endolyn, endolyn lacking all N-glycosylation consensus sequences (N-null), or containing one or two restored sites (N68, N74, and N68/N74) were subjected to domain-selective biotinylation as described in the legend to Fig. 2. The surface polarity of endolyn is plotted (mean % apical +/- S.E.M.; endolyn, n=22; N-null, n=4; N68, n=8; N74, n=8; N68/N74, n=12; N68/N86, n=14; NN74/N86, n=13). *P<0.001 vs endolyn by t-test.

2.3.2 Role of oligosaccharide processing in endolyn sorting

As glycosylated proteins travel through the early biosynthetic pathway, the N-glycan precursors added *en bloc* to asparagine residues are trimmed by glucosidases and mannosidases. Glycan-dependent apical sorting of gp80 (a.k.a. clusterin), the major endogenous protein secreted by MDCK cells has been shown to require core N-glycosylation, but not subsequent processing of the N-glycans (112, 146). Thus we assessed the effects of various inhibitors of glycan processing on apical delivery of endolyn. Deoxynojirimycin (DNJ) inhibits glucose trimming of N-glycan core structures, whereas deoxymannojirimycin (DMJ) and kifunensine (KIF) inhibit mannose trimming and interfere with further processing of the glycan on all branches, i.e., addition of N-acetylglucosamine, galactose and sialic acid. Treatment with these drugs altered the mobility of endolyn on SDS-PAGE (Figure 2.4A), suggesting that N-glycan processing was disrupted in each case, although the effect of DNJ on endolyn mobility was minor and thus more difficult to observe than that of dMJ and KIF.

To determine the effects of these drugs on the apical polarity of endolyn, domain selective biotinylation experiments were performed (Figure 2.4B). While these drugs affect ER export of some proteins, we observed no effect on the overall efficiency of transport of endolyn to the cell surface, consistent with our observations using TM. Strikingly, both DMJ and KIF dramatically altered endolyn polarity; by contrast, DNJ treatment had no effect on endolyn polarity. The effects of DMJ and KIF were comparable to that observed in TM-treated cells or in the N-null mutant, suggesting that mannose trimming of endolyn's N-glycans (allowing subsequent processing of complex glycans) was critical for generating the apical sorting determinant.



Figure 2.4 Terminal sugars on N-glycans participate in apical sorting of endolyn.

A. Mobility of endolyn from DNJ-, DMJ-, or KIF-treated cells on SDS-PAGE. Endolyn-expressing cells were starved and radiolabeled for 2h in the presence of deoxynojirimycin (DNJ), deoxymannojirimycin (DMJ), or kifunensine (KIF), then chased for 15 min. Endolyn was immunoprecipitated from the cells after solubilization and analyzed on a 10% SDS-PAGE gel.

B. Effect of glycosylation perturbants on surface distribution of endolyn. Endolyn-expressing cells were starved and radiolabeled for 2 h in the presence of the indicated drugs, then chased for 15 min prior to domain-selective biotinylation. The apical fraction of total biotinylated endolyn is plotted (average +/- range of 2 experiments).

C. Effect of glycosylation perturbants on vectorial delivery of endolyn. Cells expressing wild-type endolyn or the N68A/N74A mutant were starved and radiolabeled for 20 min in the presence or absence of the indicated drugs, then chased for 60 min at 37° C with anti-endolyn mAb added to either the apical or basolateral media of a pair of filters. After extensive washing, cells were solubilized and antibody-antigen complexes collected. The remaining endolyn was then immunoprecipitated from the samples, and the fraction of newly synthesized endolyn that reached the apical or basolateral membranes in each pair of filters was quantitated after SDS-PAGE. The fraction of endolyn accessible to apically-added antibody (relative to total endolyn reaching the surface) is plotted [mean +/- S.E.M.; endolyn control, n=9; +TM, n=4; +either KIF or DMJ, n=3; +BGN, n=8; +BGN and either KIF or DMJ, n=2 (average +/- range); N68A/N74A, n=3]. Because very similar effects were observed using KIF and dMJ, statistical analysis was performed on the combined data from cells treated with either of these drugs. *P<0.005 vs. endolyn by t-test.

To confirm that these drugs altered the vectorial delivery of endolyn to the apical plasma membrane, we used an antibody internalization assay designed to assess direct transport of newly synthesized endolyn to either cell surface domain in the biosynthetic pathway (61). Here, cells were radiolabeled over a brief period (20 min) and chased for 60 min in the presence of antiendolyn mAb in either the apical or basolateral medium. As expected, treatment with TM, DMJ, or KIF disrupted apical sorting of newly synthesized endolyn (Figure 2.4C). We also confirmed that substitution of alanines for asparagines 68 and 74 resulted in significantly lower direct apical transport (62%), consistent with the compromised polarity of the corresponding mutant protein in our biotinylation experiments. In addition, we assessed the effect of BGN in this assay: this drug inhibits O-glycan processing but may also block galactose addition to N-glycans. BGN had a similar effect on endolyn polarity as DMJ, KIF, or TM. Importantly, the effect of BGN on endolyn polarity was not additive to KIF or DMJ, suggesting that BGN's effect was not due to perturbation of O-glycan processing, but N-glycan processing. This result is consistent with the notion that terminal processing, rather than simply inhibition of mannose trimming, is important for formation of endolyn's N-glycan-dependent apical sorting determinant.

2.3.3 Polarized sorting of soluble and GPI-anchored endolyn is N-glycan independent

We previously demonstrated that En_{sol} , a truncated, soluble mutant of endolyn lacking a transmembrane domain, is efficiently secreted into the apical medium of polarized MDCK cells (61). Surprisingly, while En_{sol} mobility on SDS-PAGE was altered by TM treatment of stably expressing cell lines as expected, the polarity of En_{sol} secretion was unaffected by this drug (Figure 2.5). Thus, N-glycosylation-independent apical sorting of En_{sol} might reflect the

presence of additional apical sorting information in the lumenal domain of endolyn. Treatment with BGN also had no effect on the polarity of En_{sol} secretion (data not shown).



Figure 2.5 Apical secretion of a soluble form of endolyn does not require N-glycans.

Filter-grown En_{sol} -expressing cells were starved and radiolabeled for 3 h in the presence or absence of TM. The apical and basolateral media were collected and secreted En_{sol} immunoprecipitated and analyzed by SDS-PAGE. A representative gel is shown, and the polarity of secreted En_{sol} (mean +/- S.D. determined from 10-11 experiments) is noted below each pair of lanes.

The difference between apical sorting of transmembrane and secreted forms of endolyn in respect to their dependence on glycans could be explained in two ways: The tyrosine-containing motif in the cytoplasmic tail of endolyn, which can function as a basolateral sorting signal, might supercede recognition of redundant apical info and redirect non-N-glycosylated molecules basolaterally. Alternatively, the soluble form of endolyn might be sorted via a mechanism entirely distinct from that of wild-type endolyn. To distinguish between these possibilities, we examined whether polarity of a transmembrane form of endolyn lacking a functional basolateral sorting signal (EEE_{YA} , a mutant in which the critical tyrosine is substituted by alanine; (61)) was compromised by perturbation of N-glycans (Figure 2.6). Interestingly, EEE_{YA} polarity was sensitive to TM treatment, as well as to perturbation of terminal N-glycan processing by KIF treatment (Figure 2.6). The discrepant polarity between fully N-glycosylated and non-Nglycosylated forms of EEE_{YA} was striking under conditions where both forms were simultaneously expressed, i.e., when cells were radiolabeled after relatively short (30 min) pretreatment with TM (Figure 2.6B). These results suggest that the nonpolarized distribution of non-N-glycosylated endolyn and EEE_{YA} does not depend on a functional basolateral sorting signal, and by inference, that Ensol is sorted apically via a distinct, glycan-independent mechanism unavailable to transmembrane forms of endolyn.



Figure 2.6 Apical delivery of EEE_{YA} is N-glycosylation-dependent

A. EEE_{YA} -expressing cells were starved and radiolabeled for 2h in the presence of TM, BGN, or KIF, then chased for 15 min prior to domain-selective biotinylation and quantitation of cell surface polarity. The apical fraction of total biotinylated EEE_{YA} is plotted (mean +/- S.E.M.; control, n=11; TM, n=6; BGN, n=9; KIF, n=2). *P<0.01 vs. endolyn by t-test.

B. A typical gel showing apically- and basolaterally-biotinylated EEE_{YA} recovered from TM-treated cells, with the migration of fully glycosylated and non-N-glycosylated protein indicated. The polarity of these two EEE_{YA} species in this experiment is also noted.

We next examined whether GPI-anchored endolyn requires N-glycosylation for apical sorting. A mutant expressing GPI-endolyn was constructed by fusing the C-terminal signal sequence of 5'-nucleotidase providing a GPI-anchor attachment site to the luminal domain of endolyn (see Materials and Methods). Indirect immunofluorescence of surface-labeled polarized MDCK cells stably expressing GPI-endolyn demonstrated a predominant apical distribution of the cell surface protein (Figure 2.7A). Domain-selective biotinylation of radiolabeled GPI-endolyn (Figure 2.7C) and antibody internalization experiments after brief metabolic labeling (not shown) confirmed that the protein was delivered primarily to the apical cell surface. Unlike wild-type endolyn (61) and EEE_{YA} , which are completely extracted from cells by Triton X-100,

GPI-endolyn was partly insoluble in cold Triton X-100, similar to virally-introduced influenza hemagglutinin (HA; included as an positive control as this protein is known to have this characteristic; Figure 2.7C). This resistance to extraction by cold Triton X-100 is a hallmark of GPI-anchored proteins that reflects their association with glycolipid-enriched microdomains (18). To determine the role of N-glycans in GPI-endolyn sorting, stably expressing polarized MDCK cells were pretreated with glycosylation perturbants, and the distribution of radiolabeled GPI-endolyn analyzed using domain-selective biotinylation (Figures 2.7C and 2.7D). None of the perturbants tested, including TM (Figures 2.7C and 2.7D), KIF (Figure 2.7C), or BGN (not shown) disrupted the polarity of GPI-endolyn delivery. Thus, similar to the soluble form, apical sorting of GPI-linked endolyn appears to occur independently of the presence of N-glycans.

Finally, we tested whether the mode of anhoring, i.e., a transmebrane anchor in general, or the presence of endolyn-specific transmembrane or cytoplasmic sequences, were additional requirements fro glycan-dependent apical sorting. To address this, we examined the targeting and sensitivity to tunicamycin treatment of two chimeric protein in stably expressing polarized MDCK cells. In one of these chimeras, ECEYA, the transmembrane domain of EEEYA was replaced with that of CD8, an O-glycosylated plasma membrane protein. In the other chimera, EEC Δ , the cytoplasmic domain of endolyn was replaced with a neutral cytoplasmic tail consisting of the first 10 amino acids of CD8 tail. Both of these protein were targeted apically with a polarity similar to that of wild-type endolyn (70.3% apical for EEC Δ ; 73.7% for ECEYA; n=6) and treatment with TM disrupted their apical delivery (54.7 and 48.8% apical, respectively; n=5; p < 0.05 versus untreated controls). Treatment with KIF also disrupted the polarized sorting of these mutants (our unpublished data). Thus, N-glycans in endolyn's luminal domain are required apical sorting determinants uniquely in the context of a transmembrane protein, but the

underlying sorting mechanism does not depend on specific sequences in the transmembrane or cytoplasmic domain of endolyn.



Figure 2.7 Apical delivery of GPI-anchored endolyn does not require N-glycosylation

A. Surface distribution of GPI-endolyn. Filter-grown GPI-endolyn expressing cells were surface-labeled on ice with anti-endolyn mAb, fixed and processed for indirect immunofluorescence, and analyzed by confocal microscopy. An XY section taken at the level of the apical surface (upper panel) and an XZ section through the monolayer (lower panel) are shown. The position of the filter in the lower panel is marked with an arrowhead. Scale bar: X μm.

B. Detergent solubility of GPI-endolyn. MDCK cells expressing influenza HA, EEE_{YA} , or GPI-endolyn were radiolabeled for 1 h, then chased for 1 h prior to solubilization on ice and isolation of detergent-soluble (S) and - insoluble (I) fractions. Immunoprecipitated fractions were analyzed by SDS-PAGE. The fraction of total protein that was insoluble in cold detergent is given beneath each pair of lanes.

C. Effect of glycosylation perturbants on surface distribution of GPI-endolyn. GPI-endolyn-expressing cells were starved and radiolabeled for 2 h in the presence of TM or KIF, then chased for 15 min prior to domain-selective biotinylation. The apical fraction of biotinylated GPI-endolyn is plotted (mean +/- S.E.M.; control, n=13; TM, n=6; KIF, n=6).

D. Representative gel showing apically- and basolaterally-biotinylated GPI-endolyn recovered from TM-treated cells. The polarity of fully-glycosylated and non-N-glycosylated GPI-endolyn that was calculated in this particular experiment is also noted.

2.4 DISCUSSION

We previously found that the sialomucin endolyn is uniquely trafficked to lysosomes via the apical surface of polarized MDCK cells. A dominant N-glycan dependent apical sorting signal was localized to the lumenal domain of endolyn. Here we have further characterized the N-glycosylation requirement for apical sorting of endolyn, revealing specificity both in the position of glycans involved and in glycan structure. The amino acid sequence of endolyn contains eight potential sites for N-glycosylation, all of which appear to be glycosylated *in vivo*. Of these eight, we have identified two specific sites located within a putative disulfide-bonded loop domain that are necessary and sufficient for efficient apical delivery. Proper sorting of newly synthesized endolyn requires terminal processing of endolyn's N-glycans rather than simply the presence of core N-glycans, suggesting that the terminal sugars of these glycans are an integral part of the apical targeting signal. Surprisingly, however, apical sorting of both soluble and GPI-anchored forms of endolyn was found to be N-glycan-independent. These results suggest that closely related apically-destined proteins can be efficiently sorted via distinct, non-redundant mechanisms.

2.4.1 Specific N-glycosylation sites on endolyn are required for apical sorting of endolyn along the biosynthetic pathway

To determine the role of particular N-glycans in apical sorting of endolyn, individual sites or subsets of N-glycosylation consensus sequences were mutagenized and the polarity of expressed mutant proteins was analyzed using domain selective biotinylation. Only one mutant, N68A/N74A (~60% apical), was significantly less polarized than wild-type endolyn (~72%

apical), and another mutant with the single substitution N68A exhibited intermediate polarity (~64% apical). A similar effect on polarity was observed in antibody uptake experiments in cells that were metabolically labeled over shorter periods, demonstrating that the missing N-glycans disrupt direct delivery of newly synthesized endolyn to the apical membrane as opposed to subsequent trafficking of the protein. A mutant that contained intact glycosylation sites *only* at positions 68 and 74, while all others were mutated by alanine substitution, was correctly sorted to the apical domain. This suggests that N-glycans in these positions are sufficient to mediate apical targeting and thus are probably the major sorting determinants in the fully glycosylated protein in vivo. Neither N68 nor N74 alone was sufficient to confer apical sorting, indicating that both N-glycans are necessary. However, the effect of the N68A/N74A double-mutation on polarity was less dramatic than that observed for endolyn in tunicamycin-treated cells or for the N-Null mutant in which all asparagines of putative glycosylation sites were substituted by alanines. This partial effect may reflect the ability of the remaining N-glycans to compensate for the loss of N-glycans at positions 68 and 74. In fact, in the context of the N-null background, reconstruction of pairs of N-glycosylation consensus sequences at positions 68 and 86 or 74 and 86 resulted in preferential apical sorting of the corresponding proteins, although the fidelity of sorting appeared to be somewhat lower compared with the N68/N74 mutant.

While the total recovery of non- or singly-N-glycosylated forms of endolyn in our immunoprecipitates was typically less than wild-type (which could be explained either by increased susceptibility to degradation or by poorer recognition by our monoclonal antibodies), the relative fraction of total endolyn recovered at the plasma membrane was not significantly different in any of our mutants. This finding suggests that endolyn mutants lacking N-glycans were not retained in the TGN, but rather that loss of the apical sorting determinant resulted in

nonpolarized transport to the cell surface. This phenotype is in contrast to the results of Gut et al., who demonstrated that inhibition of N-glycosylation blocked the exit of several apical proteins from the TGN, and did not result in their missorting to the basolateral membrane (42). We interpret our results to indicate that apical targeting of endolyn requires N-glycans not as a general structural support to allow a "transport permissive" conformation of the protein, but as a sorting determinant that enables specific interactions with the sorting machinery.

2.4.2 Terminal processing of N-glycans is important for apical delivery of endolyn

When cells stably expressing endolyn were treated with kifunensine and DMJ, drugs that block mannose trimming and further processing of N-glycans, nonpolarized cell surface delivery of endolyn was observed. However, DNJ, a drug that blocks glucose trimming, had no affect on apical delivery. N-glycan processing to form complex oligosaccharides can occur in the absence of endogenous glucosidase activity or in DNJ-treated cells (34, 92). This suggests that the terminal glycans on endolyn expressed under these conditions can form the necessary sorting determinant, while this is not possible when terminal processing is completely abrogated.

Our results using glycosylation inhibitors are in contrast to those published for the primary secreted protein in MDCK cells, gp80 (a.k.a. clusterin), whose proper apical delivery requires the addition of core oligosaccharides but not further processing of N-glycans. Apical delivery of gp80 was unaffected by DMJ treatment or in ricin- and concanavalin A-resistant MDCK cell lines, which like DMJ or KIF-treated cells, are unable to add galactose or sialic acid residues to N-glycans (112, 146). This discrepancy points towards differences in the N-glycan dependent sorting of individual proteins or secreted and transmembrane proteins in general.

We also observed that treatment with BGN, a drug that scavenges UDP-galactose and thus prevents its addition to oligosaccharide chains, significantly disrupted polarized delivery of newly synthesized endolyn. The effects of BGN treatment on the surface distribution of sucraseisomaltase were previously interpreted to reflect a requirement for O-glycan processing in the apical sorting of this protein (1). However, this drug has also been shown to block terminal processing of N-glycans in some cell lines (39). Treatment with both BGN and DMJ or KIF disrupted endolyn sorting to the same extent as either drug alone, consistent with a common inhibitory mechanism. We conclude that the effect of BGN on endolyn polarity is most likely due to its effects on N-glycosylation rather than to an additional role for O-glycosylation in endolyn sorting; however, the latter cannot be ruled out completely.

Our earlier studies demonstrated that acute (2h) treatment with BGN did not affect the polarized distribution of endolyn in stably-expressing MDCK cell lines as measured using domain-selective binding of radioiodinated anti-endolyn antibody (61). The discrepancy between these results is likely due to the mixing of preexisting recycling endolyn pools with newly synthesized molecules at the apical plasma membrane. Indeed, we have observed that the efficiency of biotinylation of radiolabeled endolyn does not decrease significantly over a 21 h chase, suggesting that endolyn recycles to the cell surface for long periods after synthesis (J.R. Bruns and O.A. Weisz, unpublished). Thus, it is likely that the short-term drug treatment conditions under which the effect of BGN on polarity was previously examined were insufficient to alter the glycosylation profile of the majority of cell-surface endolyn.

2.4.3 Differential sorting requirements for soluble and GPI-anchored endolyn

N-glycans were initially implicated as sorting signals for gp80 and glycosylated human growth hormone, both of which are soluble proteins (112, 122). Thus we were surprised to find that apical delivery of a soluble form of endolyn, Ensol was completely insensitive to treatment with TM. The N-glycan-independent delivery of En_{sol} could be due to the unmasking of a recessive apical sorting signal upon removal of endolyn's cytoplasmic tail, which contains a tyrosinedependent basolateral sorting motif (61). In this scenario, the nonpolarized sorting we observed for TM-treated endolyn or the N-null mutant would reflect the competition between cytoplasmic basolateral sorting information and residual lumenal apical targeting information in these proteins. However, the polarity of EEE_{YA}, a full-length construct in which this critical tyrosine residue was mutagenized to alanine, was disrupted by cell treatment with TM or KIF to an extent equal to that observed for wild-type endolyn. This suggests that the apical sorting determinant responsible for glycan-independent secretion of En_{sol} is absent or inaccessible in EEE_{YA} and wild-type endolyn. Indeed, other studies suggest that soluble and transmembrane proteins can be sorted via distinct mechanisms; for example, trafficking of soluble and membrane proteins is differentially sensitive to perturbation of microtubule structure and pH (10, 20).

We also found that apical delivery of a GPI-anchored form of endolyn is N-glycan independent. The ability of GPI-anchors to function as apical sorting signals is currently controversial (9, 82, 83, 110). Early studies demonstrated that addition of a GPI-attachment signal to herpes simplex glycoprotein D or to human growth hormone resulted in apical delivery (83). It has been hypothesized that the GPI-lipid anchor facilitates the inclusion of proteins into detergent-insoluble glycosphingolipid-enriched membrane domains that are selectively trafficked to the apical surface. However, a recent study, which showed that GPI-anchored proteins lacking

N-glycans are not always apically targeted, has challenged the role of GPI anchors as autonomous apical targeting signals (9). In the case of endolyn, the addition of a GPI-anchor undoubtedly facilitates apical sorting in the absence of N-glycans; however, it is possible that other additional apical targeting information is also needed. This determinant could be identical to the information that directs soluble endolyn to the apical surface. At this stage the nature of such "recessive" apical information is unclear; it could consist of residual O-glycans, a weak peptide motif, and/or depend on a receptor-independent mechanism, such as aggregation of cargo mediated by the lumenal domain of endolyn.

2.4.4 Mechanisms for glycan-dependent sorting

The mechanism by which N-glycans mediate apical sorting is not known; however, two general models have been proposed (117). One possibility is that N-glycans are required to stabilize transport permissive conformations of proteins. Our results are more compatible with the second proposed mechanism: that N-glycans are required for protein binding to a cargo receptor in the TGN that concentrates the protein into apically-destined vesicles.

There is in fact precedence for lectins that function as cargo receptors in the biosynthetic pathway (44, 45). One such lectin, VIP36, has been suggested to act as receptor for soluble and membrane proteins with high-mannose-type N-glycans, including gp80 (44) and is therefore an unlikely candidate to bind endolyn or other proteins that rely on complex N-glycans for sorting. Thus, rather than a single receptor recognizing all proteins that require N-glycans for apical sorting, there may be several such binding proteins.

Our observation that two of endolyn's eight N-glycans are critical for efficient apical sorting suggests that there are specific structural requirements for recognition of the apical sorting determinant. Similarly, it was previously demonstrated that only one of the three Nglycans on erythropoietin, a secreted apical protein whose distribution is perturbed by tunicamycin, is critical for its apical targeting (73). The key N-glycans identified for endolyn and erythropoietin sorting may be critical because they possess oligosaccharide structures that are selectively recognized by a lectin receptor (either due to their unique structure since they might be more accessible to selective modification by oligosaccharide processing enzymes, or simply because they are the ones accessible to the receptor.) Alternatively, these glycans may stabilize a proteinaceous confirmation that binds to the sorting receptor. The N-glycans at positions 68 and 74 of endolyn are located on a predicted disulfide-bonded loop that carries no or few O-glycans. This part of the protein is likely to have a well-defined secondary structure, different from the mucin-like regions that constitute much of the remaining lumenal domain. Moreover, these Nglycans and several other amino acids in this region are well conserved among species, and could therefore serve as a distinct structural sorting determinant. It is important to keep in mind that complex N-glycans are bulky carbohydrate clusters that can reach more than 3 nm from the protein surface and that their outer parts can therefore act as independent domains of glycoproteins (47). Thus, terminal sugars could be part of an epitope recognized by a lectin receptor, or they alone could create the crucial epitope.

2.4.5 Glycans and endolyn function

Glycans have previously been implicated in the function of endolyn/CD164. A monoclonal antibody recognizing an N- and O-glycan-dependent epitope on the N-terminal mucin domain of human CD164 has been shown to reduce the adhesion of hematopoietic progenitor cells to bone marrow stroma and to negatively regulate cell proliferation *in vitro* (28, 156). This observation

agrees with the paradigm that specific sugar modifications are essential for the interaction of sialomucins with their extracellular binding partners (142).

Assuming that similar principles operate in human and rat, the N-glycans involved in apical targeting and those possibly involved in extracellular protein-protein interactions do not appear to be the same. The amino-terminal epitopes of human CD164 are differentially expressed in various tissues (150). We do not yet know whether the N-glycans (or their specific modifications) important for apical sorting in polarized MDCK cells are ubiquitously expressed. Because the size and structure of N- and O-glycans is developmentally regulated (136, 155), it is possible that the terminal carbohydrates on these N-glycans are not always processed equivalently. The requirement for terminal glycan processing for apical delivery of endolyn could therefore reflect a built-in mechanism to modulate endolyn trafficking. Thus, glycan processing may be one of the modifications by which the trafficking of endolyn/CD164 is regulated to adjust its distribution between cell surface and endosomal/lysosomal compartments according to the functional requirements for this protein at different stages during tissue development.

3.0 N-GLYCAN MEDIATE APICAL RECYCLING OF THE SIALOMUCIN ENDOLYN IN POLARIZED MDCK CELLS

3.1 ABSTRACT

Apical and basolateral proteins are maintained within distinct membrane subdomains in polarized epithelial cells by biosynthetic and postendocytic sorting processes. Sorting of basolateral proteins in these processes has been well studied; however, the sorting signals and mechanisms that direct proteins to the apical surface are less well understood. We previously demonstrated that an N-glycan dependent sorting signal directs the sialomucin endolyn to the apical surface in polarized Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. Terminal processing of a subset of endolyn's N-glycans is key for polarized biosynthetic delivery to the apical membrane. Endolyn is subsequently internalized, and via a cytoplasmic tyrosine-based sorting motif is targeted to lysosomes from where it constitutively cycles to the cell surface. Here we examine the polarized sorting of endolyn along the postendocytic pathway in polarized cells. Our results suggest that similar N-glycan sorting determinants are required for apical delivery of endolyn along both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathways.

3.2 INTRODUCTION

Crucial to the function of polarized epithelial cells is the ability to sort proteins along both the biosynthetic and endocytic pathways in order to generate and preserve distinct populations of membrane proteins at their apical and basolateral membrane domains. Intense research has been focused on identifying sorting signals within proteins as well as the cellular sorting machinery responsible for targeting proteins to the correct domain. This has led to a greater understanding of how proteins are sorted along the biosynthetic pathway. Basolateral sorting is generally dependent on cytoplasmic peptide sorting sequences, some of which conform to tyrosine-based tetrapeptide or dileucine motifs (101). Understanding apical sorting, on the signals other hand. has been more elusive. Proposed apical sorting include glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) lipid anchors, specific amino acid sequences within the transmembrane or cytoplasmic domains of proteins, and both N- and O-glycans (101, 118, 124).

Polarized sorting of newly synthesized proteins into distinct transport carriers has been demonstrated to occur in the *trans*-Golgi network (TGN) in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells (MDCK). More recently it has been shown that biosynthetic sorting of some proteins may occur within endosomal compartments as well (6, 36, 107). Tyrosine-based tetrapeptide and dileucine motifs can interact with adaptor protein complexes in these compartments to direct proteins to endosomes, lysosomes, or the basolateral cell surface (12). The association with glycolipid enriched microdomains in the Golgi complex may facilitate the concentration of GPI-anchors and proteins whose apical sorting signals reside in their transmembrane domains into apically-destined transport carriers (109). A mechanism for the sorting of apical proteins via glycan-dependent sorting signals has yet to be identified.

In addition to polarized biosynthetic delivery, the maintenance of cellular polarity requires efficient sorting of proteins along the postendocytic pathway. After internalization from the apical or basolateral cell surface, proteins can be recycled back to the appropriate cell surface domain, transcytosed to the opposing membrane domain, or be targeted to late endosomes and lysosomes. A significant fraction of apically- and basolaterally-internalized cargoes is known to intermix in common endosomes prior to recycling; thus there must exist cellular sorting mechanisms in this compartment that enable efficient polarized segregation of distinct proteins (3, 148).

An obvious question of interest is whether polarized sorting in the postendocytic pathway requires the same signals used to direct proteins along the biosynthetic pathway. In the case of basolateral proteins, studies have demonstrated that the postendocytic sorting signals of the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor and the LDL receptor are similar to those that direct their polarized delivery along the biosynthetic pathway (8, 93). In contrast, basolateral biosynthetic and postendocytic sorting signals in the transferrin receptor are contained within the same cytoplasmic region of the protein but are not identical (106). Whether similar or distinct apical sorting determinants operate along the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathways has been unexplored.

Our previous studies have focused on dissecting the trafficking signals that govern polarized biosynthetic trafficking of endolyn, a sialomucin that localizes to lysosomes and apical membranes in polarized MDCK cells (61). Lysosomal targeting of endolyn is conferred by a tyrosine-based tetrapeptide motif in the cytoplasmic tail of the protein (61, 62); however, along the biosynthetic pathway, the basolateral/lysosomal sorting information in this signal is largely overridden by N-glycan dependent apical sorting information in the lumenal domain of the

59

protein (61, 62). Thus, unlike other lysosomal membrane proteins, which transit the basolateral surface en route to lysosomes, a sizable fraction of newly synthesized endolyn is delivered apically prior to internalization and transport to lysosomes (61, 98). Based on antibody uptake studies, we estimate that at least 50% of newly synthesized endolyn traverses this indirect pathway, whereas the remainder is transported along the direct route to lysosomes in MDCK cells (61). Biosynthetic apical sorting of endolyn requires specificity in both the structure and position of N-glycans (115). Polarized delivery also appears to be raft-independent as endolyn is soluble in cold TX-100 although it remains possible that a distinct type of non-classical raft is involved in endolyn transport (61). Additionally, our studies revealed that a significant fraction of endolyn recycles to the apical surface after internalization from the surface. Moreover, endolyn appears to constitutively recycle between lysosomes and the plasma membrane (63). Here we have further explored the post-endocytic trafficking route of endolyn in polarized cells. Our data suggest that endolyn is efficiently recycled from endosomes and lysosomal compartments to the apical surface and that polarized postendocytic sorting of this protein relies on the same N-glycan-dependent sorting information that is important for its polarized biosynthetic delivery. Endolyn is thus the first apical protein shown to use the same sorting signals in both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathways.

3.3 **RESULTS**

3.3.1 Internalization of endolyn is not affected by perturbation of terminal glycosylation

Our previous studies demonstrated that mutants of endolyn lacking N-glycans at positions 68 and 74, or endolyn synthesized in the presence of the mannosidase inhibitors kifunensine (KIF) or
deoxymannojirimycin were delivered in a nonpolarized manner to the plasma membrane of polarized MDCK cells (115). In order to determine whether these structural features are also important for sorting of endolvn along the endocytic pathway, we first characterized the entry kinetics of endolyn from the apical plasma membrane because glycosylation status has been demonstrated to affect the internalization rate of some proteins (4, 139). Internalization of endolyn from clathrin-coated pits is mediated by a tyrosine-based tetrapeptide motif in its cytoplasmic tail that also functions as the lysosomal targeting signal for this protein (61-63). Using a standard biotinylation-based endocytosis assay to quantitate the kinetics of endolyn internalization from the apical surface, we determined that the initial rate of wild-type endolyn internalization was roughly 1%/min (Figure 3.1). A similar rate was observed when using an antibody uptake assay (data not shown). This is comparable to the rate measured for apical internalization of a mutant influenza hemagglutinin protein that contains a tyrosine-based internalization motif (99). We next measured the internalization kinetics of endolyn synthesized in the presence of KIF, as well as endolyn whose N- and O-glycans were desialylated by cell surface treatment with neuraminidase. Treatment with KIF or neuraminidase altered the mobility of endolyn on SDS-PAGE as predicted; however, the internalization rate of endolyn over 15 min was similar to control conditions in either case (Figure 3.1). Thus, the rate of internalization of endolyn appears to be largely independent of its terminal glycosylation status.



Figure 3.1 Endolyn is efficiently internalized.

Polarized endolyn-expressing MDCK cells were radiolabeled for 2 h in the presence or absence of kifunensine (KIF) and chased for 15 min prior to biotinylating the apical surface with sulfo-NHS-SS-biotin. Where indicated, filters were then incubated with apically added neuraminidase (NA) on ice. The cells were rapidly warmed to 37°C for 0, 5, or 15 min, and biotin was stripped from the surface using MESNA. One of the 0 min samples was left unstripped to extrapolate the total amount of endolyn initially present at the apical surface. The cells were solubilized and the biotinylated fraction of endolyn was recovered and analyzed as described in Methods. Quantitation of the data is shown below.

3.3.2 Endolyn recycles from common recycling endosomes and late endocytic compartments

Once internalized into apical early endosomes, endolyn could be recycled back to the cell surface or be targeted deeper into the endocytic pathway towards lysosomes. Our previous studies following the fate of internalized radioiodinated anti-endolyn antibodies suggest that both events occur to a significant extent (61). The majority of the fraction that is not recycled from early compartments is efficiently targeted to lysosomes; however, because the internalized antibodies are degraded in this compartment, potential recycling of endolyn from late endosomes and lysosomes cannot be detected using this assay. Nevertheless, there is good evidence that endolyn constitutively recycles from these deeper endocytic compartments. Because they are accessed by both apically- and basolaterally- internalized proteins, the return of endolyn from late endosomes and lysosomes to the apical membrane would require active polarized sorting.

To test whether apically-internalized endolyn enters common endosomes, iron-loaded canine transferrin and prebound anti-endolyn-antibody were co-internalized from the basolateral and apical surfaces, respectively, for 45 min at 37°C prior to fixation and subsequent processing for indirect immunofluorescence. Modest colocalization of these two cargo molecules was observed in confocal sections taken through the medial portion of the cells (Figure 3.2), consistent with the reported distribution of common endosomes (148). No colocalization was seen at or above the level of the tight junctions (apical) or just above the filter support (basal). Thus, at least a fraction of apically-internalized endolyn gains access to common endosomes from which it must be actively sorted prior to return to the apical cell surface.



Figure 3.2 Apically-internalized endolyn colocalizes with basolaterally-internalized transferrin in endosomes.

Anti-endolyn antibody was prebound to the apical surface of polarized endolyn-expressing MDCK cells for 1 h on ice. After washing, cells were warmed to 37° C in the presence of basolaterally-added iron-loaded transferrin for 45 min. Cells were then fixed, permeabilized, processed for indirect immunofluorescence to detect endolyn, transferrin, and the tight junction marker ZO-1, and examined by confocal microscopy. Single optical sections taken at the tight junction (apical), immediately below the tight junction, and near the basal surface are shown. The individual staining patterns for endolyn (red) and transferrin (green) are shown, along with merged images that include the ZO-1 staining pattern. Colocalization (arrows) between endolyn and transferrin was observed only in medial sections. Scale bar: 4 μ m.

In addition to recycling from early and common endosomes, there is evidence that endolyn constitutively recycles from lysosomes. Ihrke et al. (2004) demonstrated that inhibition of AP-2-mediated endocytosis upon overexpression of dominant-negative AP-180 in 3T3 cells resulted in the redistribution of endolyn from lysosomes to the cell surface (63). To examine this possibility more quantitatively, we used domain selective biotinylation to quantitate the fraction of newly-synthesized radiolabeled endolyn that was present at the plasma membrane (apical and basolateral) of MDCK cells over a long chase period (Figure 3.3). Endolyn-expressing cells were radiolabeled for 2 h, then chased and biotinylated 0, 6, or 21 h later. These experiments were performed using filter pairs of endolyn that were biotinylated apically or basolaterally; the biotinylated fraction was calculated as the total % biotinylated in each filter pair. Initially after the radiolabeling period, roughly 20% of endolyn was present at the cell surface. After 6 h of chase, this fraction decreased to $\sim 8\%$, consistent with the internalization and lysosomal delivery of newly-synthesized endolyn. This appears to represent the steady state distribution of endolyn between cell surface and intracellular pools in these cells, as the same percentage of presynthesized endolyn was detected at the cell surface after 21 h of chase. Given the internalization rate of endolyn that we measured and the relatively long half life of the protein (~21 h), our data suggest that endolyn recycles from both early and late endocytic compartments and requires the active segregation from basolateral cargo.



Figure 3.3 Newly-synthesized endolyn recycles to the cell surface over a long chase period.

Polarized MDCK cells stably expressing endolyn were radiolabeled for 2 h then chased for 0, 6, or 21 h. At each time point, cells were biotinylated. The total percent of presynthesized endolyn biotinylated recovered at the plasma membrane (apical + basolateral) at each time point is plotted (mean =/- S.E.M.; n=17-22).

3.3.3 Endolyn does not recycle via the TGN

In a few cases, apically internalized proteins have been shown to recycle via the TGN (15). While the short cytoplasmic tail (13 aa) of endolyn is unlikely to contain a TGN targeting signal, it was important to rule out the possibility that polarized postendocytic sorting of this protein occurs in this compartment. To determine whether internalized endolyn returns to the TGN, we used both immunofluorescence and biochemical approaches (Figure 3.4). In our immunofluorescence approach, the apical surfaces of polarized MDCK cells stably expressing endolyn were preincubated with anti-endolyn antibody for 1 h on ice and the cells were then warmed to 37° C for 45 min. After fixation and permeabilization, cells were processed for double

label indirect immunofluorescence to detect endolyn and either the TGN marker furin (Figure 3.4A) or the Golgi complex marker giantin (not shown). No colocalization was observed with either marker, suggesting that endolyn does not traffic back to the TGN. Moreover, no colocalization was observed when the internalization step was performed for 4 h at 20°C to retain any retrieved proteins in the TGN (not shown).



Figure 3.4 Internalized endolyn does not transit the TGN

A. Anti-endolyn antibody was prebound to the apical surface of MDCK cells for 1 h on ice, and the cells were rapidly warmed to 37°C for 45 min. After fixation, cells were processed for indirect immunofluorescence to visualize endolyn (red) and the TGN marker furin (green) and examined by confocal microscopy. A supranuclear section containing the Golgi complex is shown. Scale bar: 8 μm.

B. Polarized endolyn expressing MDCK cells were radiolabeled for 2 h and then chased for 15 min. Both the apical and basolateral surfaces were biotinylated on ice, and the indicated samples were incubated on ice with neuraminidase (NA) to desialylate cell surface proteins. The cells were returned to culture for 0 to 21 h, then solubilized and the biotinylated pool of endolyn recovered and analyzed by SDS-PAGE. The decrease in mobility of desialylated endolyn relative to wild-type is characteristic of mucin like proteins. Similar results were observed in two experiments.

In the biochemical approach, we determined whether endolyn desialylated at the cell surface could be resiallyated upon return to culture for up to 21 h. Sialyltransferases reside in the distal compartments of the Golgi complex, and this approach has previously been used to document recycling of proteins via the TGN in other cell types (15, 104). Both the apical and basolateral surfaces of polarized MDCK cells were biotinylated and then subsequently treated with neuraminidase on ice. The cells were returned to culture at 37°C for 0 to 21 h, solubilized, and then immunoprecipitated with anti-endolyn antibody. The biotinylated fraction was isolated using streptavidin-agarose and examined by SDS-PAGE. Similar to other mucin-like proteins, efficient desialylation resulted in significantly slower mobility upon SDS-PAGE due to a decrease in the overall negative charge of endolyn (Figure 3.4B, compare 0 h +/-NA lanes). The stability of desialylated endolyn over the 21 h time course was significantly lower than that of wild type endolyn (not shown), presumably reflecting enhanced degradation of the protein upon delivery to lysosomes; however, we could follow the radiolabeled, biotinylated protein for at least 6 h. No shift in electrophoretic mobility of desialylated endolyn was observed during this period, confirming that recycling endolyn is unlikely to access sialyltransferase-containing compartments.

3.3.4 Polarized recycling of endolyn is N-glycan-dependent

We next sought to determine whether postendocytic delivery to the cell surface requires the same N-glycan-dependent apical sorting information we have shown to be important for biosynthetic sorting. To determine whether terminal processing is important for postendocytic sorting of endolyn, we compared the surface polarity of newly synthesized endolyn synthesized in the absence or presence of KIF over a long time course during which multiple rounds of recycling

would occur. Polarized MDCK cells stably expressing endolyn were radiolabeled with [³⁵S]cysteine for 2 h, then chased for 0, 6, or 21 h. KIF was included in the indicated samples during the starve and radiolabeling steps, but omitted from the chase. At each time point cells were subjected to domain-selective biotinylation, then solubilized and the polarity of the presynthesized endolyn was determined as described in Methods. Figure 3.5A depicts the possible outcomes of these experiments: if N-glycans are *not* important for postendocytic sorting, we predict that newly-synthesized proteins that are initially delivered in a nonpolarized manner would gradually regain a polarized distribution upon multiple rounds of recycling. In contrast, if the same N-glycan-dependent signal is important for biosynthetic and postendocytic sorting, then those proteins that are initially delivered in a nonpolarized manner would maintain a nonpolarized distribution after numerous rounds of recycling.

Our results conform to the second scenario. Endolyn maintained a polarized distribution (~70% apical) throughout the time course, confirming that the wild-type protein is preferentially returned to the apical surface after internalization. When endolyn was synthesized in the presence of KIF, it was delivered in a nonpolarized manner, similar to our previous observation (Figure 3.5B, 52% apical) and, importantly, we observed no change in its distribution over the 21 h chase period. The consistent difference that we observed in the distribution of wild-type and incorrectly glycosylated endolyn is not a reflection of altered trafficking rates or reduced stability of KIF-treated endolyn, as both proteins have long half-lives (>18 h) and are internalized and recycled with similar rates. Thus, the continued nonpolarized distribution of KIF-treated endolyn after numerous rounds of internalization and recycling suggests that the absence of terminally-processed N-glycans prevents polarized sorting of this protein along the postendocytic pathway.



Figure 3.5 Polarized postendocytic sorting of endolyn is N-glycan-dependent.

A. A schematic illustrating the predictions for the long time course polarity experiments. KIF-treated endolyn is initially delivered to the plasma membrane of polarized cells in a non-polarized fashion. Delivery to the cell surface may occur directly from the TGN as depicted or via an endosomal intermediate (not shown). If an N-glycan*independent* signal is required for polarized postendocytic sorting (left hand panel), then endolyn constructs that are initially delivered to the surface in a non-polarized manner will gradually redistribute apically. In contrast, if N-glycans are required for polarized postendocytic sorting (right hand panel), then proteins initially delivered in a non-polarized distribution over multiple rounds of recycling.

B. The polarity of endolyn and glycosylation mutants is maintained over long chase periods. Polarized MDCK cells expressing endolyn, the N68A/N74A mutant (which lacks N-glycans at positions 68 and 74), or endolyn synthesized in the presence of KIF were radiolabeled for 2 h, and then chased for 0, 6, or 21 h prior to domain-selective biotinylation. The percentage of total biotinylated endolyn present at the apical surface at each time point is plotted (mean +/- S.E.M.; n=17-22). There is no statistical difference in the surface distribution of wild-type, KIF-treated, or mutant endolyn after 21 h relative to their initial delivery.

We also examined the behavior of mutant endolyn missing the two N-linked glycans at positions 68 and 74 (N68A/N74A), which shows reduced biosynthetic apical polarity (115). Although this mutant is cleaved intramolecularly over time and is therefore less stable than wild-type endolyn ($t_{1/2} < 6$; data not shown), we were able to monitor the cell surface polarity of newly-synthesized intact N68A/N74A over a 21 h chase period (Figure 3.5B). The initial polarity of N68A/N74A was 53% apical, similar to that of KIF-treated endolyn, and the distribution of this mutant remained non-polarized during the time course. Taken together, these data suggest that similar N-glycosylation requirements govern the efficiency of endolyn sorting along the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathways.

3.3.5 Post-endocytic apical sorting of endolyn relies on terminal sialylation

If glycosylation directs polarized postendocytic sorting of endolyn, then acute perturbation of endolyn glycans at the apical cell surface might result in redistribution of the protein. Because we previously implicated terminal processing of N-glycans in the proper biosynthetic sorting of endolyn, we asked whether cell surface treatment with neuraminidase would interfere with postendocytic apical sorting of the protein. Polarized MDCK cells stably expressing endolyn were radiolabeled for 2 h, chased for 10-15 min, and the apical sides of the filters were treated with or without neuraminidase. The cells were then returned to culture for 0 or 2 h and biotinylated to determine the polarity of wild-type and desialylated endolyn (Figure 3.6). Mock-treated endolyn displayed a primarily apical distribution at both 0 and 2 h. In the samples treated with NA, efficient desialylation of endolyn was observed in the apically biotinylated samples at the 0 h time point (Figure 3.6, +NA, 0 h). Importantly, upon return to culture, a significant fraction of the desialylated endolyn was rapidly transcytosed to the basolateral surface,

consistently resulting in a nonpolarized distribution of this pool of protein. In the neuraminidasetreated samples, we also noted the appearance of sialylated endolyn at the apical surface after 2 h; this likely reflects preferential apical delivery of correctly glycosylated endolyn from both intracellular compartments and the basolateral cell surface. Thus, terminal sialylation of Nglycans may contribute to the apical sorting determinant that governs polarized sorting of endolyn along the postendocytic pathway.



Figure 3.6 The polarity of endolyn is rapidly altered upon cell surface neuraminidase treatment

MDCK cells stably expressing endolyn were radiolabeled, and the apical surfaces were mock-treated or treated with neuraminidase (NA) on ice for 1 h. Subsequently cells were returned to culture at 37°C for 0 or 2h, and the apical (A) or basolateral (B) surface was biotinylated. Samples were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and a representative gel is shown. The mobility of desialylated endolyn is denoted by the bracket. The apically-desialylated pool of endolyn is shifted to a nonpolarized distribution by 2 h. The graph below shows the polarity of mock-treated and apically-desialylated endolyn after 2 h in culture (mean +/- S.E.; n=10-11). *p <0.001 vs. mock-treated by Student's t test. The dotted line at 50% denotes the distribution of a nonpolarized protein.

3.4 DISCUSSION

Our data demonstrate that endolyn recycles constitutively to the apical surface of polarized MDCK cells via compartments in which it is actively segregated from basolateral and lysosomal cargo. Moreover, although internalized endolyn does not recycle through the TGN, the polarized sorting of endolyn along the postendocytic route depends on an N-glycan-dependent signal with characteristics similar to the determinants that are important for polarized biosynthetic delivery of newly-synthesized endolyn. Two specific N-glycans of endolyn are essential for efficient apical delivery in both pathways, and in particular, terminal sugar modifications appear to be key determinants for apical sorting. Our study is the first to demonstrate a role for N-glycans in polarized apical recycling.

It is generally thought that polarized biosynthetic and postendocytic sorting occur in distinct cellular compartments (124). Several groups have demonstrated, using live cell imaging, the segregation of newly synthesized "apical" and "basolateral" proteins into distinct transport carriers emanating from the TGN in both polarized and nonpolarized cells (71, 120). Moreover, differential requirements for the release of TGN-staged apical and basolateral proteins have been observed *in vitro* (29, 77, 96, 152) and distinct TGN-derived transport carriers enriched in apical vs. basolateral markers have been immunoisolated (147). However, recent evidence suggests that a significant fraction of some newly-synthesized basolateral proteins also traverse endosomal compartments *en route* to the cell surface (6, 36, 107, 113). In addition, mutants of basolateral proteins that are mistargeted apically have also been detected in recycling endosomes prior to surface delivery, although direct delivery of proteins from the TGN to the apical surface has also been observed (6, 72, 107). Whether the indirect route via an endosomal intermediate represents a significant pathway for the delivery of endogenous apical proteins has not yet been

demonstrated. Thus, it is possible that N-glycan dependent sorting of endolyn along the biosynthetic and postendocytic routes occurs at the same intracellular site. Regardless, our data demonstrate for the first time that N-glycans can direct polarized apical sorting within the postendocytic pathway.

After internalization, proteins in polarized cells can be returned to the same or opposing cell surface (recycling and transcytosis, respectively), or be targeted deeper into the endocytic pathway for delivery to lysosomes. Polarized recycling requires active sorting of internalized cargo and is essential for maintaining the appropriate cell surface distribution of membrane proteins. Endocytic sorting of basolateral transmembrane proteins appears to be mediated by cytoplasmic sorting motifs binding to adaptor protein complex(es) (37, 38). However, little is known about the sorting mechanisms for apical proteins in the postendocytic pathway. A study in polarized hepatic cells (WIF-B) showed that during basolateral-to-apical transcytosis, exit of several apical membrane proteins from early endosomes depended on the presence of cholesterol and glycosphingolipids, although only some of these proteins were detergent-insoluble in cold Triton X-100 (103). Moreover, recent evidence suggests that some GPI-linked proteins take a transcytotic route to the apical domain in MDCK cells, rather than a direct route as previously thought (113). These results suggest that incorporation into lipid rafts may serve as an apical sorting mechanism both at the TGN and in endosomes; however, this mechanism may not apply to all apical proteins and cell-type specific differences may also exist.

In this study, we have examined the signals that govern apical postendocytic trafficking of the sialomucin endolyn. After internalization, a large fraction of endolyn is trafficked to lysosomes, while a smaller but still significant proportion is recycled back to the apical surface (61). The recycling of this latter fraction can occur from common endosomes, as we have shown that a population of endolyn enters into these compartments and intermixes with basolateral cargo or from peripheral early endosomes/apical recycling endosomes. In addition, our ability to detect newly-synthesized endolyn at the apical surface over a long chase period suggests continuous recycling of endolyn from later endocytic compartments including lysosomes. Additional evidence for the constitutive cycling of endolyn between the cell surface and lysosomes in nonpolarized cells has been previously documented (63). Trafficking of endolyn from lysosomes to the apical membrane could be direct or via an endosomal intermediate; but in either case must involve active sorting of the protein from basolaterally-destined cargo.

In our previous studies, we examined the fate of apically- and basolaterally-internalized radioiodinated anti-endolyn antibodies (61). This method allows more sensitive quantitation of internalization and recycling rates compared with the biochemical methods used in this study. Unfortunately, the long half-life of endolyn does not allow us to replace the entire cellular population of wild-type endolyn with KIF-treated protein and thus precludes the use of this technique to compare the trafficking of these two proteins. However, it is important to note that the rates of internalization and recycling that we measured for endolyn using biotinylation-based methods are consistent with our determinations using an antibody approach (data not shown). We did attempt to use radioiodinated anti-endolyn antibodies to measure differences in the trafficking rates between cells stably expressing wild-type endolyn and the missorted glycosylation mutant N68A/N74A. However, straightforward interpretation of these experiments was confounded by the considerably shorter half life of N68A/N74A compared with wild-type endolyn (≤ 6 h vs ~ 21 h), which resulted in significantly less recycling of antibody internalized from either cell surface domain. The decreased stability of N68A/N74A likely reflects susceptibility to cleavage within a putative disulfide-bound loop that houses the two missing

glycans. Moreover, it should be noted that all of the available anti-endolyn antibodies recognize reduction-sensitive epitopes that appear to be localized within the loop domain. It is therefore possible that antibody binding perturbs recognition by the sorting machinery of glycan-dependent trafficking signals in this region of wild-type endolyn.

In our extended time course experiments we demonstrated that KIF-treated endolyn and the N68A/N74A mutant maintain a nonpolarized distribution, suggesting that the same Nglycan-dependent sorting signal that is utilized in the biosynthetic pathway also directs polarized postendocytic sorting. To examine whether glycan-dependent sorting occurs in early endocytic compartments, we compared the recycling of wild-type or KIF-treated endolyn. We found that ~40% of pre-internalized endolyn recycled to the apical surface within 15 min, but could detect no discernable difference in the rate or fidelity between the wild-type or KIF-treated protein. This suggests that early recycling occurs predominantly from peripheral apical early/recycling endosomes that do not receive basolateral cargo and from which recycling to the apical cell surface may occur by "default". In this model, polarized sorting of endolyn occurs from compartments deeper within the cell, such as common recycling endosomes and lysosomes. Because a large fraction of endolyn is efficiently sorted to and recycles from these late endocytic compartments, these organelles must either have sorting capability or correspond with other endosomes where sorting from basolateral cargo occurs. It is currently not known whether recycling and polarized sorting can take place in late endosomes/lysosomes. In any case, our results indicate that return to the apical surface from these "deeper" endocytic compartments is dependent on intact N-glycan processing of endolyn.

Our experiments further suggest that terminal sialic acid residues play an important role in sorting, as acute cell surface neuraminidase treatment rapidly redistributed a population of

77

apical endolyn to the basolateral cell surface. A previous study suggested a role for terminal glycan processing of the apical protein gp114 based on its mislocalization in galactosylationdeficient ricin resistant cells; however, in contrast to our observations with endolyn, the effect could not be reproduced by deoxymannojirimycin treatment of wild-type cells (79). Similarly, a role for $\alpha 2,3$ -linked sialic acid in the biosynthetic apical delivery of mucins has previously been suggested based on the effects of pharmacological disruption of glycan synthesis using BGN (55). An elegant recent study from the same group suggests that the effects of this drug on apical sorting may be due to changes in the composition and stability of lipid rafts rather than to altered mucin glycosylation (27), and it is predicted that similar effects on raft composition would be found in ricin-resistant cells. Such a mechanism is unlikely to be the cause for the non-polarized redistribution of endolyn that we observed when the protein was synthesized in the presence of KIF or deoxymannojirimycin, or upon cell surface treatment with neuraminidase. Because neuraminidase desialylates both N- and O-linked glycans, it remains to be shown whether sialic acids on endolyn's O-glycans may facilitate apical sorting. Nonetheless, since terminal processing of N-glycans is a requirement for polarized sorting of endolyn in the biosynthetic and post-endocytic pathway, our data are consistent with the idea that sialylation of N-glycans is important for efficient recognition of the apical sorting determinant.

The mechanism by which glycosylation-dependent sorting signals are recognized is not known. Current models propose that glycans may stabilize a proteinaceous conformation that confers a transport-permissive structure to a protein, or alternatively, that glycans are directly recognized by a lectin-like receptor (117). While our data do not distinguish between these models, our observations suggest that common mechanisms are utilized along both the biosynthetic and post-endocytic pathways. Future studies will be required to unravel how these N-glycan dependent sorting signals are decoded.

4.0 ENDOLYN IS SORTED IN DISTINCT COMPARTMENTS WITHIN THE BIOSYNTHETIC AND POSTENDOCYTIC PATHWAYS

4.1 ABSTRACT

While the *trans*-Golgi network has long been thought to be the site of polarized sorting along the biosynthetic pathway, recent studies suggest that endosomal recycling compartments may also function as an additional site for polarized sorting. However, in these studies, apical trafficking was studied using mutant basolateral proteins, making it difficult to conclude that true apical proteins are sorted in these compartments. The sialomucin endolyn was recently shown to require a similar N-glycan-dependent apical sorting signal along both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathways. This suggests that sorting of this protein may occur in a common compartment along both pathways, such as recycling endosomes. In this study, I examined the biosynthetic trafficking of endolyn in comparison to the raft-associated apical protein, influenza hemagglutinin (HA). Neither protein was found to transit common recycling endosomes along the biosynthetic pathway. However, HA was found to traverse an apical endocytic compartment while endolyn was not. This study suggests that endolyn, despite the use of similar N-glycan-dependent apical for biosynthetic and postendocytic delivery, is sorted in distinct compartments along these pathways.

4.2 INTRODUCTION

The previous chapters revealed that trafficking of endolyn along both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathways is dependent on the terminal processing of a subset of N-glycans (114, 115). This finding raises the possibility that endolyn may be sorted in a compartment common to both pathways. Both the TGN and endocytic compartments have been implicated to have roles in both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathways (6, 15, 107). My biochemical and immunofluorescence data presented in the last chapter suggest that endolyn does not traverse the TGN after internalization from the surface. Therefore, I tested the possible role of endocytic compartments in the trafficking of endolyn along the biosynthetic pathway.

To date, several basolateral proteins have been shown to traffic to the surface *via* endocytic compartments in nonpolarized cells. The first proteins to be implicated were the transferrin receptor and the H1 subunit of the asialoglycoprotein receptor (36, 81). Recently, a temperature-sensitive mutant of the vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein G (VSV-G) conjugated to yellow fluorescent protein (VSV-G-YFP) was shown by Ang *et al.* to traffic to transferrin-positive recycling endosomes before delivery to the surface using live cell techniques (6). To determine whether this indirect trafficking was necessary for delivery, Ang *et al.* assessed the surface delivery of VSV-G-YFP after inactivation of transferrin-positive recycling endosomes (6). For these studies transferrin-conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (HRP-Tf) was internalized into recycling endosomes then treated with diaminobenzidine (DAB) and hydrogen peroxide, both of which are membrane permeable. In the presence of hydrogen peroxide, DAB reacts with the HRP located in the recycling endosome to form an insoluble precipitate. Inactivation of recycling endosomes using this method inhibited subsequent delivery of VSV-G-YFP to the surface. In nonpolarized cells, transferrin-positive recycling endosomes are also positive for

rab11 and using live cell techniques Lock et al. showed that E-cadherin enters rab11-positive structures before delivery to the surface (85). Additionally, expression of rab11 mutants resulted in a decrease in the amount of E-cadherin found at the surface (85).

Though it has been shown that the endocytic pathway in polarized cells is organized differently, endocytic recycling compartments have also been implicated in biosynthetic trafficking in these cells. In polarized cells, the transferrin receptor (TfR) is localized to common recycling endosomes that contain both apical and basolateral cargo but lack rab11 (149). Rab11 is instead found in apical recycling endosomes (149). Orzech *et al.* implicated these two recycling compartments when ablation of these compartments affected the initial biosynthetic delivery of the pIgR to the basolateral surface (107). Thus it appears that basolateral proteins are trafficked to the surface *via* endocytic intermediates in both nonpolarized and polarized cells.

Whether apical proteins also traverse endocytic compartments is currently not clear. In several of the studies mentioned above apical mutants of the basolateral proteins were studied. However, several of these 'apical' proteins still possessed sequences that can be recognized by basolateral sorting machinery. An apical mutant of VSV-G-YFP was found to traverse recycling endosomes, however the AP-interacting sequence in this mutant is intact (6). Similarly, an apical mutant of pIgR that retains an AP-interacting sequence was also shown to traverse an endocytic compartment before delivery to the basolateral surface in polarized cells (107). Studies have also examined the trafficking of apical GPI-anchored proteins but contrasting results have been observed. Futter et al. showed that the GPI-anchored protein alkaline phosphatase was not found to traverse endocytic compartments before delivery to the cell surface of nonpolarized cells (36). However a recent study using live cell techniques in polarized cells shows that a GPI-anchored construct of YFP is found in a subapical compartment before delivery to the apical surface (53).

Taken together, these studies make it difficult to conclude that apical proteins are sorted in endocytic compartments.

The role of endocytic compartments in the sorting of apical proteins is further complicated by the fact that there are multiple pathways to the apical surface. For instance, raft-associated proteins have been shown to traffic to the apical surface in a manner distinct from non-raft-associated proteins (69). Jacob et al. showed that raft-associated- and non-raft-associated-proteins exit the TGN in the same vesicular carrier but are subsequently found in separate carriers (69). Delivery of the raft-associated proteins was also shown to be affected by the actin depolymerization induced by incubation with cytochalasin D (68). Consistent with a role for actin, the motor protein myosin I and its regulator, α -kinase 1 were found to specifically associate with immunoisolated vesicles containing the raft-associated cargo (46). Data from our own lab shows that delivery of influenza hemagglutinin (HA) is specifically enhanced in comparison to non-raft-associated proteins when phosphatidylinositol-5-kinase is overexpressed (40). Thus, in this study, the trafficking of endolyn along the biosynthetic pathway was compared to HA.

4.3 RESULTS

4.3.1 Apical proteins do not traverse common recycling endosomes along the biosynthetic pathway

Similarly to Ang *et al.*, I wanted to inactivate specific endocytic compartments and determine whether this has any affect on the surface delivery of endolyn and HA along the biosynthetic pathway (6). To validate this approach, I first confirmed that the inactivation of transferrin-

positive compartments inhibits the delivery of VSV-G-YFP to the surface of nonpolarized cells. MDCK cells that stably express human transferrin receptor (TfR; PTR9 cells) were grown on coverslips and infected with replication deficient adenovirus encoding VSV-G-YFP and incubated at 40°C overnight. The next day recycling endosomes were loaded with or without Tf conjugated to HRP (HRP-Tf) how. Cells were then incubated with or without diaminobenzidine (DAB) and hydrogen peroxide for 1 hr on ice. After a 1 hr chase at the permissive temperature of 31.5°C in the presence of cycloheximide, the cells were fixed and imaged (Figure 4.1). In concordance with the observations of Ang et al., delivery of VSV-G-YFP to the surface was only inhibited when recycling endosomes were successfully inactivated by incubation with both DAB and hydrogen peroxide (6).

The next step was to determine whether the same results could be obtained in polarized cells using a biochemical approach. In this experiment, filter-grown PTR9 cells were infected and incubated overnight at 40°C. The next day cells were radiolabeled in the presence or absence of HRP-Tf and then cells were incubated with or without DAB and hydrogen peroxide for 1 hr on ice. Cells were then chased at 31.5°C for 0 or 90 min, after which the basolateral surface was biotinylated. The total fraction of VSV-G-YFP found at the surface after 0 or 90 min of chase is plotted (Figure 4.2). A considerable decrease in the amount of VSV-G-YFP at the surface was only seen when transferrin-positive common recycling endosomes (CREs) were inactivated, suggesting that VSV-G-YFP traverses this compartment along the biosynthetic pathway in polarized cells.



Figure 4.1 Inactivation of Tf-containing endosomes inhibits surface delivery of VSV-G-YFP

PTR9 cells grown on coverslips were infected to express tsO45VSV-G-YFP and incubated overnight at 40°C. The next day cells were starved in serum-free media for 30 min before incubation with HRP-Tf for 45 min at 40°C. HRP-Tf remaining on the surface was removed by incubating twice with 0.15 M NaCl and 20 mM citric acid pH 5.0 for 5 min. On ice, cells were washed with PBS and incubated with DAB and H_2O_2 for 1 h. Three different sets of controls were done in this experiment. In one control set cells were not incubated with HRP-Tf, DAB, or H_2O_2 (no add'n). In a second control set, cells were incubated with only HRP-Tf and DAB (no H_2O_2). The third control set was incubated with only DAB and H_2O_2 (no HRP-Tf). Subsequently cells were chased at 31.5°C in the presence of cycloheximide for 1h. After washing with PBS, cells were fixed and imaged.





the basolateral surface

Polarized PTR9 cells were infected to express VSV-G-YFP and incubated overnight at 40°C. The next day. cells were starved in serum-free media for 30 min, then incubated in media devoid of cysteine and methionine for 30 min and radiolabeled for 15 min at 40°C. During this 45 min, cells were also incubated with HRP-Tf on the basolateral surface. HRP-Tf remaining at the surface was removed and cells were treated with DAB and H_2O_2 for 1 h on ice. Controls were done as described in Figure 4.1. After washing, cells were chased for 0 or 90 min at 31.5°C. Delivery to the basolateral surface was quantitated using domain selective biotinylation. Cells were solubilized and VSV-G-YFP was immunoprecipitated. Four-fifths of the sample after elution was incubated with streptavidin-agarose beads to recover the biotinylated (surface) protein. The remaining fraction was retained to calculate the total amount of endolyn. Samples were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and the gels from a representative experiment are shown (upper panel). The mean +/- SD of 2 experiments is plotted (lower panel).

Having validated the inactivation of the CRE in polarized cells and the use of biochemical techniques to measure surface delivery, I next determined the effect of inactivating the CRE on apical trafficking of endolyn and HA. These experiments were performed as described above using adenoviruses that expressed either HA or endolyn. Surface delivery of HA was assessed using cell surface trypsinization while delivery of endolyn was quantitated after surface biotinylation. Inactivation of CRE had no effect on the amount of newly synthesized endolyn reaching the apical surface (Figure 4.3), suggesting that this protein does not enter this compartment along the biosynthetic pathway. I routinely observed that a population of immature protein was found only at the apical surface of cells that received hydrogen peroxide, suggesting that terminal glycosylation processes can be affected by this reagent (compare 90 min lanes for no HRP-Tf and complete to 0 min lane); however, this does not appear to affect the efficiency of surface delivery, as similar amounts of endolyn were found in these cells compared with nonperoxide treated cells. Similarly it appears that HA does not traverse the CRE as inactivation of this compartment had no effect on the delivery of HA to the apical surface (Figure 4.4). In experiments with either protein, a slight increase in the average amount of protein at the apical surface after inactivation of recycling endosomes was observed. It was possible that the increase in apical delivery was due to an overall change in the polarity after inactivation of the CRE; however there was no effect on the polarity of HA (data not shown). Alternatively it is possible that inactivation or recycling endosomes could inhibit the internalization of proteins from the surface and maintain this pool that normally recycles at the apical surface. However, HA has not been shown to be efficiently recycled like endolyn.





recycling endosomes

Filter-grown PTR9 cells were infected to express endolyn and incubated overnight at 37°C. Cells were radiolabeled and incubated with HRP-Tf at 37°C. Cells were processed as described for VSV-G-YFP except cells were chased for 0 or 90 min at 37°C. Apical delivery at each time point was quantitated using domain selective biotinylation techniques. Samples were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and the gels from a representative experiment are shown (upper panel). The mean +/- SD of 3 experiments is plotted (lower panel).





endosomes

Polarized PTR9 were infected to express HA and processed as described in Figure 4.3, except that cell surface trypsinization was used to quantitate apical surface delivery. Samples were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and the gel from a representative experiment is shown (upper panel). The mean +/- SD of 4 experiments for each condition is plotted (lower panel).

4.3.2 Apical endocytic compartments are differentially used along the biosynthetic pathway

Since Orzech et al. implicated a possible role for the apical recycling endosome (ARE) along the biosynthetic pathway, I wanted to determine whether endolyn or HA traverses this compartment (107). To inactivate endosomal recycling compartments such as the ARE and the CRE, Orzech et al. used wheat germ agglutinin (WGA) conjugated to HRP (HRP-WGA) (107). WGA binds to glycans on membrane proteins and is efficiently internalized into early endosomes; subsequently, it partitions with membrane proteins along the recycling pathway. Localization of WGA-HRP to recycling endosomes was confirmed by Orzech et al. as intracellular staining of WGA-HRP-FITC internalized apically for 15 min at 37°C in MDCK cells displayed a diffuse, tubular pattern consistent with recycling compartments (107). In my studies, HRP-WGA was internalized for 1 hr at 18.5°C to enhance localization with the ARE. However, in my experiments, confocal images of internalized WGA-FITC under these and other internalization conditions showed significant colocalization with EEA1, a marker of early endosomes, but little colocalization with markers for the ARE or CRE (Figure 4.5). Nonetheless, inactivation of compartments containing WGA-HRP inhibited the apical delivery of HA but not of endolyn, suggesting that these two proteins are delivered to the apical surface by distinct pathways (Figures 4.6 and 4.7).



Figure 4.5 Characterization of HRP-WGA internalization conditions

WGA-FITC was internalized from the apical surface of polarized PTR9 cells for 1 h at 18.5°C. Remaining WGA-FITC at the surface was stripped with two 10 min incubations with 100 mM N-acetyl-D-glucosamine. After washing, cells were fixed, permeabilized, and processed for indirect immunofluorescence to detect ZO-1 (tight junctions) and either Rab11 (upper panel) or EEA1 (lower panel), representing markers of recycling and early endosomes, respectively. Overlayed images are shown in the right-hand panels. Image provided by Asli Oztan (Apodaca Lab, University of Pittsburgh).



Figure 4.6 Inactivation of HRP-WGA-containing compartments does not disrupt apical delivery of endolyn.

Filter-grown PTR9 cells were infected to express endolyn and incubated overnight at 37°C. The next day, cells were starved and radiolabeled for 15 min. Cells were apically incubated with HRP-WGA for 1 h at 18.5°C. Remaining HRP-WGA was removed from the surface with 100mM N-acetyl-D-glucosamine and washed several times before the inactivation procedure as described in Figure 4.2. After inactivation, cells were chased for 0 or 90 min at 37°C. Apical delivery was quantitated using domain selective biotinylation techniques. The mean +/- range of a representative experiment is plotted. Similar results were obtained in 3 experiments.



Figure 4.7 Biosynthetic apical delivery of HA is disrupted upon inactivation of HRP-WGA-containing endosomal compartments

Polarized PTR9 cells infected to express HA were processed as described in Figure 4.6, except that cell surface trypsinization was used to quantitate delivery to the apical surface. The mean +/- range of a representative experiment is plotted. Similar results were obtained in 5 experiments.

4.4 **DISCUSSION**

To determine whether endolyn or HA traverse endocytic recycling compartments, I adapted a technique described by Ang et al. to inactivate common recycling endosomes in polarized cells (6). This approach was validated by showing that inactivation inhibits the delivery of VSV-G-YFP to the basolateral surface in polarized cells. Inactivation of common recycling

endosomes, however, did not disrupt the N-glycan-dependent apical delivery of endolyn or of the raft-associated protein HA.

To determine whether endolyn or HA traffic via the apical recycling endosome as suggested by Orzech et al., endocytic compartments containing HRP-WGA were inactivated (107). While there was no effect on endolyn, delivery of HA to the apical surface was inhibited under these conditions. However, it cannot be determined whether the affect on HA was due to a specific inactivation of apical recycling endosomes. My confocal images of the internalization of WGA-FITC suggest that inactivation of WGA-HRP-containing compartments would be largely limited to apical early endosomes. However, it is possible that little colocalization was seen between WGA-FITC and rab11 because these markers localize to different subdomains within the ARE. To discriminate between these possibilities, fluid phase HRP, which should only label early endosomes, was internalized from the apical surface for 15 min at 37°C to specifically inactivate apical early endosomes. Results showed no effect on the apical delivery of HA (data not shown). Thus further studies are necessary to clearly define a role for the ARE in the biosynthetic trafficking of HA. For example, IgA conjugated to HRP could be used to selectively inactivate the ARE as this protein has been shown to transcytose from the basolateral surface to the apical surface via apical recycling endosomes. Additionally, disruption of the expression or function of proteins such as rab11 and myosinVb, which play important roles in the trafficking of proteins from the ARE could implicate the involvement of this compartment in the trafficking of HA (78, 85).

Taken together these data suggest that there are multiple pathways to the cell surface along the biosynthetic pathway. It is still unclear whether endocytic compartments can function in polarized sorting since VSV-G-YFP and HA were found to transit distinct endocytic

94

compartments along the biosynthetic pathway. If these compartments do not function in polarized sorting along the biosynthetic pathway, it is possible that traversing endocytic intermediates is important for regulating the amount of protein at the surface. A limitation of my experiments is that it is not possible to quantitate the extent to which proteins utilize endocytic intermediates. This is because the inactivation of endocytic compartments did not completely inhibit delivery of VSV-G-YFP or HA. It is possible that a given protein uses multiple pathways to traffic to the cell surface and that the inhibition I observed accurately represents the fraction that traverses endosomes. It is also possible that trafficking via endocytic intermediates is a major pathway in cells but that cells can develop alternate pathways when this route is inaccessible. For instance, it has been shown that when clathrin-mediated endocytosis is inhibited, proteins that normally use this pathway will enter via clathrin-independent mechanisms (25). Alternatively, it is possible that I was unable to completely perturbing this trafficking pathway in cells.

In contrast to VSV-G-YFP and HA, my studies suggest that endolyn is trafficked directly to the apical surface along the biosynthetic pathway. Thus, endolyn, despite the use of a similar N-glycan-dependent sorting signal along the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathway, is sorted in distinct compartments along these two pathways.

5.0 CONLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The segregation of the plasma membrane into apical and basolateral domains in polarized epithelial cells allows these cells to simultaneously interact with the external and internal environments, respectively. Maintenance of these distinct domains has been attributed to the ability of the cell to differentiate and sort apical from basolateral cargo based on inherent signals within proteins. While the basolateral sorting signals identified so far rely exclusively on sequence motifs in the cytoplasmic domains of proteins; apical sorting signals rely on a variety of signals including glycosylation, cytoplasmic sequences, and an association with lipid rafts. Understanding the role of glycosylation in the trafficking of apical proteins has been challenging given the ubiquitous and complex nature of these moieties and their involvement in sorting only a subset of proteins. In this dissertation, I have examined the role of N-glycans in apical trafficking using the sialomucin endolyn as a model protein. I found that polarized apical biosynthetic delivery is dependent on the terminal processing of two N-glycans found in the luminal domain of the protein. Moreover, my studies show that similar N-glycan dependent signals are necessary for polarized apical sorting of endolyn, indicating for the first time that the glycosylation status can influence the fidelity of postendocytic cargo sorting. This observation suggested that newly synthesized and recycling endolyn may be sorted in a common compartment. However, the experiments in chapter 4 demonstrate that despite the use of similar apical targeting signals, endolyn is sorted in distinct compartments in these pathways. These
studies provide a comprehensive model for the itinerary for the sorting and delivery of endolyn, which can be used to illuminate the functional significance of endolyn expression at steady state. Future studies will be geared towards defining an N-glycan-dependent apical sorting mechanism and the proteins involved.

The intracellular trafficking of endolyn in polarized epithelial cells is not dependent on one signal but rather two signals; an N-glycan-dependent apical sorting signal in its lumenal domain and the lysosomal sorting YXXΦ motif (YHTL) in its cytoplasmic domain (61, 62). It is the differential recognition of these two sorting signals that results in the indirect trafficking of endolyn to lysosomes (61, 63). Along the biosynthetic pathway the majority of endolyn is trafficked from the TGN to the apical surface via the N-glycan-dependent apical sorting signal (61) (Chapters 2&4). A small fraction is also trafficked indirectly via the basolateral surface, because the lysosomal sorting signal can also act as a basolateral sorting signal (61). After delivery to the surface, endolyn is internalized into the postendocytic pathway and the majority of endolyn is now trafficked to lysosomes (61). However a significant fraction of endolyn recycles back to the apical surface via the N-glycan-dependent apical sorting signal (Chapter 3).

One question that arises from this trafficking model is what accounts for the apparent differential recognition of endolyn's lysosomal sorting signal in the TGN vs. endosomes. Newly synthesized endolyn is largely diverted to the cell surface, whereas internalized endolyn is efficiently shunted to lysosomes. Lysosomal trafficking of endolyn is dependent on AP-3 (63). This adaptor complex has been localized to the TGN and endosomes; However, AP-3 only recognizes endolyn's lysosomal sorting signal in endosomes (63). Inrke et al. propose that a post-translational modification, such as phosphorylation, of endolyn's cytoplasmic tail may regulate the affinity of endolyn for AP-3 in distinct compartments (63). Indeed, such a mechanism has

been implicated for lysosomal delivery of Aquaporin 4 (86). The serine preceding the tyrosine based motif in the cytoplasmic domain of this protein was shown to be phosporylated. Additionally replacement of the serine residue with aspartic acid, mimicking phosphorylation, was shown to increase binding of the tyrosine motif to AP-3 in a two-hybrid assay and increase lysosomal delivery in MDCK cells (86). Endolyn has a cytoplasmic serine residue five amino acids prior to its lysosomal sorting signal, thus it is possible that phosphorylation of this residue at the membrane or at endosomes increases the interaction between endolyn and AP-3. Alternatively, it is possible that different accessory machinery can associate with endosomes in comparison to the TGN to aid in AP-3 binding at this site.

The apical delivery of endolyn along both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathways suggests that endolyn has a functional purpose at this site. Indeed, mRNA levels of endolyn are highest in liver, kidney, spleen, and lung tissue; all of which contain polarized epithelial cells (62). Furthermore, studies with the human ortholog of endolyn, CD164, have revealed an important role for this protein at the cell surface in differentiation during both myogenesis and hemopoiesis (80, 156). Endolyn contains two mucin-like domains containing sialylated glycans and thus may provide a protective role similar to mucins or act as a receptor at the apical surface (62) (Chapter 3). The highly glycosylated filamentous structure of mucins allows these proteins to protect the surface from the harsh external environment (140). However, bacteria and viruses have adapted to use terminal sugars, such as sialic acid, for adhesion (140). To combat invading pathogens, binding to endolyn may trigger phosphorylation of its cytoplasmic tail, resulting in delivery to lysosomes. The pathogen would then be destroyed in the lysosome and endolyn could be dephosphorylated and recycled back to the apical surface. It is also possible that endolyn acts as a specific receptor, as the disulfide loop domain that connects the two mucin-like domains has

consensus sequences that have only been found in growth factor and cytokine receptors. Binding of putative ligands to endolyn may induce phosphorylation within its cytoplasmic domain resulting in a signaling pathway and/or its degradation. Thus, it would be interesting to determine whether site-directed mutagenesis of the serine preceding endolyn's lysosomal sorting motif has any effect on its trafficking.

A final question that arises from the trafficking of endolyn is how do N-glycans mediate sorting to the apical surface? Two mechanisms have been envisioned for the sorting of proteins that contain N-glycan-dependent apical sorting signals. One model proposes that there is a family of receptors that sort apical proteins, either through a direct interaction with N-glycans or recognition of a proteinaceous conformation that is stabilized by N-glycans (117). The second mechanism proposes that N-glycans stabilize a tertiary conformation that promotes oligomerization or associations with lipid rafts for export from the TGN (117). Experiments performed to discriminate between these mechanisms by identifying specific N-glycan requirements have been unsuccessful in elucidating a specific mechanism; however, these studies, including my own, suggest that specific N-glycans and/or structures are necessary (73, 79, 88, 112, 146). Thus, further specific characterizations of N-glycan-dependent sorting signals may be influential. For instance, the two key N-glycans necessary for apical delivery of endolyn are located on a proposed disulfide loop domain within the protein. It is possible that the two key N-glycans are important because they stabilize this structure, which is then recognized by a receptor. To test this, delivery of endolyn in the absence of this structure could be examined. Site-directed mutagenesis techniques could be used to disrupt the critical cysteine residues within the disulfide loop region of the endolyn construct in which only the two key N-glycans are present (null+N68+N74). Appropriate delivery to the surface would be assessed by domain

selective biotinylation techniques. If endolyn is delivered to the apical surface without the presence of the disulfide loop, this would suggest that the loop domain is not important and would support a mechanism in which glycans are directly recognized. Another possibility is that the disulfide loop domain allows the two key N-glycans to be processed differently than the other eight N-glycans.

Alternatively experiments geared to test the possible mechanisms may be more influential in identifying a mechanism. Preliminary experiments have been initiated within the lab to identify the mechanism by which endolyn is specifically trafficked to the apical surface. To determine whether oligomerization rather than raft-association is important for endolyn delivery, I examined whether there is a difference in the oligomerization status of sorted and nonsorted endolyn constructs. Using sucrose gradient techniques, no differences were observed. Experiments were also performed to determine whether delivery of endolyn to the surface is saturable to determine whether endolyn uses a receptor-mediated mechanism for its N-glycandependent apical delivery. Preliminary studies examining the polarity of overexpressed endolyn were consistent with this possibility; however, these results could not be replicated in subsequent attempts. As an alternative approach, I attempted an *in vivo* coimmunoprecipitation approach to identify potential receptor(s) that selectively associate with properly sorted variants of endolyn. Preliminary studies using this approach, however, were unsuccessful. A possible explanation for this is that the antibody used for immunoprecipitation may have disrupted an interaction with the receptor, since it recognizes an epitope within the disulfide loop domain. Thus, future studies using a different antibody that recognizes a distinct site on endolyn or an epitope-tagged version of endolyn may be informative.

Another approach to identifying a mechanism may be to examine whether the apical delivery of endolyn is affected by any of the lectin-like proteins that have been found to associate with apical cargo such as VIP36, MAL, and galectins (26, 27, 44, 87). Recently, intriguing roles for members of the galectin family have emerged in apical sorting of both raft- and non-raftassociated proteins. Unlike conventional secreted proteins, galectins are synthesized in the cytosol and exit cells via a poorly-defined non-classical pathway; however upon secretion they can avidly bind cell surface glycoconjugates and be internalized (57). Internalized galectins can reach endosomal compartments; however, it is not yet clear if they can travel as far back as the TGN (57). Thus their involvement in sorting may only occur in the postendocytic pathway, consistent with the possibility that distinct sorting sites are used in the biosynthetic versus postendocytic pathway. Fourteen different galectins have been identified in mammals and each contains at least one carbohydrate recognition domain that designates its binding specificity (56). Galectin-4 contains two CRDs and appears to preferentially bind glycosphingolipids (27). Upon knockdown of galectin 4 in HT-29 cells, apical protein association with lipid rafts was reduced and the proteins accumulated intracellularly (27). A model has been proposed in which galectin-4 organizes 'super rafts' that act as sorting platforms for apical cargo (14).

Another member of the galectin family, galectin-3, is expressed in many cell-types including MDCK cells and was recently shown to preferentially associate with vesicles containing the non-raft-associated protein lactose-phlorizin hydrolase (LPH) in comparison to the raft-associated sucrase-isomaltase (26). Additionally, siRNA-mediated knockdown of galectin-3 disrupted the apical delivery of LPH as well as of two other non-raft-associated glycoproteins, p75 neurotrophin receptor and gp114 (26). Association of galectin-3 and the non-raft associated cargi was shown to be carbohydrate-dependent but a specific role for N-glycans

was not explored (26). To examine a role for galectin-3 in the N-glycan-dependent trafficking of endolyn, the effects of siRNA mediated galactin-3 knockdown on the apical delivery of endolyn along the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathway could be assessed using domain selective biotinylation techniques. If galectin-3 does not affect apical delivery of endolyn it is still possible that another galectin family member may be involved.

In conclusion, maintenance of the apical surface is important for polarize epithelial cell function and a subset of proteins rely on N-glycans for apical delivery. My studies demonstrate that specific N-glycans and structures are recognized in distinct compartments along both the biosynthetic and postendocytic pathways. How these specific requirements translate into a mechanism is not currently understood; however it is anticipated that the future studies described in this dissertation will be influential in this endeavor.

6.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

6.1 CDNA CONSTRUCTS

The cDNA of wild type rat endolyn and construction of the EEE_{YA} and En_{sol} mutants have been described previously (61, 64). Individual and double glycosylation mutants were generated by site-directed mutagenesis using primers to complementary DNA sequences in the region of interest, both containing the desired mutation. Generation of the N-null construct was done by sequentially introducing the N68A/N74A, N86A, N26A/N32A, N97A, and N144A mutations. Constructs with one or two intact glycosylation sites were generated by reintroducing the required codons into the N-null construct. To make the GPI-linked version of endolyn, we first generated an intermediate construct in pBSII SK⁻ coding for the lumenal domain of endolyn and ending with a Pst I site introduced by PCR. The fragment of rat 5'-nucleotidase cDNA coding for the C-terminal signal sequence necessary for GPI-anchor attachment to the protein was retrieved from the full-length cDNA by digest with Pst I/BamH I and then cloned into the Pst I site of the intermediate. The resulting expressed amino acid sequence at the domain border was KSTFSAAS, with the first four amino acids from endolyn and the last four from 5'nucleotidase. All mutations were initially introduced into cDNAs inserted in pBSII SK-, which were then subcloned behind the butyrate-inducible cytomegalovirus promoter of the pCB6 vector (16) and verified by DNA sequencing.

6.2 CELL LINES

MDCK II stable cell lines expressing endolyn, EEE_{YA} , En_{sol} , and $EEC\Delta$ were previously generated (61). Generation of MDCK II stable transfectants expressing endolyn N-glycsoylation mutants and the endolyn/CD8 α chimera ECE_{YA} was performed the calcium phosphate method as described previously (61, 151). For most constructs, the polarity of at least two individual clones of drug-resistant cells was assessed. Cells were cultured in modified Eagle's medium (Sigma) supplemented with 10% FBS and 400 µg/ml G418. PTR9 MDCK cells stably expressing the human transferring receptor, rabbit pIgR, and the tetracycline transactivator were a gift from Dr. Gerard Apodaca (University of Pittsburgh). These cells were cultured in modified Eagle's medium supplemented with 10% FBS and 0.05% hygromycin B (Sigma).

6.3 ANTIBODIES

Rabbit antiserum no. 6431 and mouse monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) 501 and 502 to rat endolyn have been described previously; the latter were used interchangeably with similar results. Antibodies for VSV-G-YFP and HA were obtained from supernatants of cultured hybridomas (8G5 from Dr. Douglas Lyles, Wake Forest University and Fc125 from Dr. Thomas Braciale, University of Virginia).

6.4 DRUG TREATMENTS

The following glycosylation perturbants were obtained from Sigma Aldrich and used at the designated concentrations: tunicamycin (TM, 3 µg/ml), deoxymannojirimycin (DMJ, 1 mM), deoxynojirimycin (DNJ, 1 mM), and benzyl 2-acetamido-2-deoxy- α -D-galactopyranoside (BGN, 4 mM). The α -mannosidase inhibitor KIF, which prevents terminal processing of N-glycans, was purchased from BIOMOL (Plymouth Meeting, PA) and used at a concentration of 21.5 µM. Drugs were added 0.5-2 h prior to the radiolabeling of cells, and were included in the starvation and pulse steps but omitted thereafter. Short pretreatment with tunicamycin (30 min) resulted in synthesis of both fully N-glycosylated and non-N-glycosylated forms of proteins, allowing direct comparison of their polarized distribution in the same gel lanes (Figs. 5, 6, and 7). Upon longer pretreatment (2 h), only the non-N-glycosylated forms were observed. The polarized distribution of non-N-glycosylated forms was the same regardless of the pretreatment protocol used. Cell surface neuraminidase treatment was performed for 2 h at 4°C using 20 mU/ml α 2-3,6,8-Neuraminidase isolated from *Vibrio cholerae* (Calbiochem, La Jolla, CA).

6.5 REPLICATION-DEFECTIVE RECOMBINANT ADENOVIRUSES AND INFECTION

Replication-defective recombinant adenoviruses expressing tetracycline-repressible HA (Japan serotype) and endolyn were generated and purified as previously described (48). Replication-defective recombinant adenovirus expressing tsO45 VSV-G-YFP was a gift from Dr. Patrick Keller (European Molecular Biology Laboratory). For infection, PTR9 cells stably expressing

the tetracycline transactivator grown on coverslips or transwells were first incubated in calciumfree PBS containing 1mM MgCl₂ (PBS-M) for 5 min. The PBS-M was then replaced with PBS-M containing enough adenovirus sufficient for a multiplicity of infection of 50. Cells were then returned to a 37°C incubator for 1 h. Cells were then washed in PBS-M and incubated in complete media overnight at 37°C for cells expressing endolyn and HA and 40°C for cells expressing VSV-G-YFP.

6.6 DETERMINATION OF POLARITY

Domain selective biotinylation was performed as previously described (61, 115). Briefly, polarized cells stably expressing wild-type or mutant endolyn were starved in cysteine- and methionine-free media for 30 min and radiolabeled for 2 h with [³⁵S]-cysteine. In some experiments, the apical or basolateral surface was then incubated with neuraminidase as described above. Samples were then chased for the indicated periods and either the apical or basolateral surface of a pair of filters was biotinylated on ice. Cells were solubilized and immunoprecipitated with anti-endolyn antibody. Mouse monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) 501 and 502 to rat endolyn have been describedand were used interchangeably with similar results. As described previously, four-fifths of the sample after elution was incubated with streptavidinagarose beads to recover the biotinylated (surface) fraction of protein. The remaining fraction was retained to calculate the total amount of endolyn. After electrophoresis of the surface and total protein samples, the fraction of cell surface endolyn recovered from each apically or basolaterally biotinylated filter was determined by normalizing to the total endolyn recovered from that filter. The ratio of apical surface endolyn to total surface endolyn (apical plus

basolateral) in each filter pair was then calculated. Data were analyzed using Student's t- test and outlying numbers were discarded using Chauvenet's criterion.

6.7 DETERMINATION OF DETERGENT INSOLUBILITY

The insolubility of EEE_{YA}, GPI-endolyn, and HA in ice-cold Triton X-100 was performed as previously described (61). MDCK cells expressing EEE_{YA}, GPI-endolyn, or virally expressing HA were radiolabeled for 1 h and chased for 1 h. Cells were then solubilized for 20 min in ice-cold TNE (250mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA pH 7.5) containing 1% Triton X-100. After centrifugation at 4°C for 20 min at 16,000 g the TX-100 soluble and insoluble fractions were immunoprecipitated and analyzed by SDS-PAGE. Quantitation was done using a phosphoimager.

6.8 IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE MICROSCOPY

Chapter 2: Both surfaces of filter-grown cells expressing endolyn, N-null, and N68.N74 were exposed to anti-endolyn mAb (25 μ g/ml) for 1 h on ice. Filters were washed extensively before fixation and incubation with Cy3-conjugated goat-anti-mouse antibody (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA). Confocal images were collected using a Leica TCS SP system equipped with a 63X Leitz Plan-Apo objective (NA 1.4) at a resolution of 1024x1024 pixels and a zoom of 2.0-3.0. Adobe Photoshop software (Adobe Systems, Mountain View, CA) was used for image processing.

Chapter 3: The apical surface of polarized endolyn-expressing cells was incubated with anti-endolyn antibody (25 µg/ml) on ice for 1 h. For studies with transferrin, cells were starved in serum-free medium for 45 min prior to incubation with apical anti-endolyn antibody on ice for 1 h. After washing, the filters were then transferred to 37°C for 45 min to allow internalization of antibody from the apical surface and transferrin from the basolateral surface. The cell surfaces were then acid-stripped for 60 min at 4°C. Cells were prepared for confocal microscopy using a pH-shift fixation method as previously described (7). After fixation, excess formaldehyde was quenched in PBS containing 20 mM glycine pH 8.0. The cells were washed and then permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS containing 1% BSA (PBSA). This was followed by incubation in PBS containing 5% normal goat serum (Sigma). Cells were immunostained with appropriate primary antibodies diluted in PBSA for 1 h. Mouse anti-endolyn (25 µg/ml) and rabbit anti-furin (1:400 dilution, Affinity Bioreagents, Golden, CO) or mouse anti-endolyn, rabbit anti-canine transferin (gift from Gerard Apodaca), and rat anti-ZO-1 (1:20 dilution, a gift from Gerard Apodaca). After washing, samples were incubated with fluorescent-labeled secondary antibodies diluted in blocking buffer. Alexa 488 goat anti-mouse and Alexa-647 goat anti-rabbit secondary antibodies were used (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR). For the transferring study, Cy3 goat anti-rat secondary antibodies were also used (Jackson Immunoresearch). Filters were washed and mounted onto glass coverslips with Aqua-polymount (Polysciences, Inc., Warrington, PA). Imaging was performed on a TCS-SL confocal microscope (Leica, Dearfield, IL) equipped with argon, green helium-neon, and red-helium-neon lasers. Acquisition of images was performed with 100x plan-apochromat oil objective (NA 1.4) and the appropriate filter combination. The images were saved as TIFFs and imported into Adobe Photoshop (Adobe, San Jose, CA) where contrast was corrected.

Chapter 4: WGA-FITC was internalized from the apical surface of filter-grown PTR9 cells for 1 h at 18.5°C. WGA-FITC remaining at the cell surface was removed by treating the surface with 100 mM N-acetyl-D-glucosamine for 2X10 min. Cells were then washed 2X in PBS and fixed in with 4% paraformaldehyde in 100 mM NaCacodylate for 10 min at room temperature. Cells were washed 3X in PBS and any remaining formaldehyde was quenched by incubating in PBS containing 20 mM glycine (pH 8.0) for 5 min. After 3 washes in PBS cells were blocked in 10% normal goat serum containing fish skin gelatin and saponin for 10 min. Cells were incubated with the appropriate primary antibodies diluted in the blocking solution (rat anti-ZO-1 diluted 1:10 and rabbit anti-EEA1 was diluted 1:500 or rabbit anti-rab11 diluted 1:500). After washing 3-5X with blocking solution, cells were incubated with secondary antibodies diluted in blocking solution (Cy5 conjugated goat anti-rabbit diluted 1:100 and Cy3conjugated goat anti-rat diluted 1:1000 (Jackson Immunoresearch). This incubation was followed by three washes with blocking solution and 3 washes with PBS. Cells were then post-fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in 100 mM NaCacodylate for 10 min. Before mounting the cells were washed 3X with PBS, 3X with PBS containing 20 mM glycine pH 8.0, and 3X with PBS. Imaging was performed on a TCS-SL confocal microscope (Leica, Dearfield, IL) equipped with argon, green helium-neon, and red-helium-neon lasers. Acquisition of images was performed with 100x planapochromat oil objective (NA 1.4) and the appropriate filter combination. Images were analyzed with Volocity software Improvision.

6.9 INTERNALIZATION ASSAY

The internalization rate of endolyn was determined using the procedure described by Altschuler et al (4). Briefly, endolyn-expressing MDCK cells plated on Costar 6-well transwells were radiolabeled with [³⁵S]-cysteine for 2 h and chased for 10-15 min. The apical surface was biotinylated on ice twice for 10 min with sulfo-NHS-SS-Biotin (0.5 mg/ml; Pierce) in TEA-buffered saline (pH 7.6). The reaction was quenched by washing the cells with culture medium containing fetal bovine serum. After biotinylation, cells were incubated at 37°C for 0, 5, or 15 min in HEPES-buffered MEM. After each time point, cells were washed with ice cold PBS and the apical surface incubated with Sodium 2-mercaptoethansulfonate (MESNA) to strip remaining biotinylated proteins. Iodoacetic acid (120mM) was then added to quench any remaining MESNA. A duplicate 0 min time point was left untreated with MESNA in order to determine the total amount of endolyn at the apical cell surface (100%). The cells were then solubilized, immunoprecipitated, and then incubated with immobilized streptavidin (Pierce). Samples were analyzed by SDS-PAGE to determine the percent of endolyn internalized relative to the total amount initially present at the apical surface.

6.10 INACTIVATION OF TF- AND WGA-CONTAINING ENDOSOMAL COMPARTMENTS AND ASSESSMENT OF SURFACE DELIVERY

This technique was performed as described by Ang *et al.* (6). To label Tf-containing endosomal compartments, nonpolarized PTR9 cells virally expressing VSV-G-YFP and polarized PTR9 cells virally expressing VSV-G-YFP, endolyn, or HA were first incubated in serum-free media

for 30 min. Cells were then incubated with 0.01 mg/ml HRP-Tf for 45 min. For biochemical studies, HRP-Tf was internalized while cells were starved in media devoid of cysteine and methionine for 30 min and radiolabeld with 1 mCi/ml Trans-³⁵S-label for 15 min. For cells expressing VSV-G-YFP these step were performed at 40°C rather than 37°C. HRP-Tf remaining at the cell surface was removed after 2 X 10 min incubations with 0.15M NaCl and 20mM citric acid pH 5.0. To label WGA-containing endosomal compartments, cells were radiolabeled for 15 min and then the apical surface of cells was incubated with 25 μg/ml HRP-WGA (EY Laboratories, San Mateo, CA) for 1 h at 18.5°C. HRP-WGA remaining at the surface was removed by 2 X 10 min incubations with 100 mM N-acetyl-D-glucosamine (Sigma).

For HRP inactivation, cells were first washed for 3 X 5 min in PBS and then incubated with PBS containing 0.1 mg/ml DAB (Sigma) and 0.025% H₂O₂. Cells were incubated in the dark on ice for 1 h. The reaction was quenched in PBS containing 1% BSA (Sigma) for 5 min and then washed 3X with PBS. As controls, HRP-Tf or HRP-WGA was not internalized and samples were not incubated with DAB and H₂O₂ (no add'n), while in other samples only the H₂O₂ or HRP-Tf/HRP-WGA was omitted (no H₂O₂ or no HRP-Tf/no HRP-WGA respectively). For immunofluorescence studies, nonpolarized PTR9 cells expressing VSV-G-YFP were chased in the presence of cycloheximide at 32°C for 60 min. Cells were then fixed and imaged on a microscope. For biochemical studies, PTR9 cells expressing VSV-G-YFP were chased for at 32°C and PTR9 cells expressing endolyn or HA were chased at 37°C for 0 or 90 min. At each time point delivery to the surface was quantitated. For cells expressing VSV-G-YFP or endolyn, biotinylation of the basolateral or apical surface was performed as described above. To quantitate apical delivery of HA to the surface, cell surface trypsinization techniques were used as described by Henkel *et al.* (49). Briefly, the apical surface incubated with 100 µg/ml TPCK- treated trypsin for 30 min on ice. The apical surface was then incubated with 200 µg/ml soybean trypsin inhibitor. Cells were then rinsed with PBS and solubilized. HA was immunoprecipitated and analyzed by SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions. The trypsin treatment cleaves HA at the surface into subunits that remain associated via disulfide bonds during immunoprecipitation but are disrupted under reducing conditions. The percentage of cleaved HA1 and HA2 subunit in comparison to the total amount of HA within the cell was quantitated using a phosphoimager.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. **Alfalah M, Jacob R, Preuss U, Zimmer KP, Naim H, and Naim HY.** O-linked glycans mediate apical sorting of human intestinal sucrase-isomaltase through association with lipid rafts. *Curr. Biol.* 9: 593-596, 1999.

2. Alfalah M, Wetzel G, Fischer I, Busche R, Sterchi EE, Zimmer KP, Sallmann HP, and Naim HY. A novel type of detergent-resistant membranes may contribute to an early protein sorting event in epithelial cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280: 42636-42643, 2005.

3. Altschuler Y, Hodson C, and Milgram SL. The apical compartment: trafficking pathways, regulators and scaffolding proteins. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 15: 423-429, 2003.

4. Altschuler Y, Kinlough CL, Poland PA, Bruns JB, Apodaca G, Weisz OA, and Hughey RP. Clathrin-mediated endocytosis of MUC1 is modulated by its glycosylation state. *Mol. Biol Cell* 11: 819-831, 2000.

5. **Ang AL, Folsch H, Koivisto UM, Pypaert M, and Mellman I.** The Rab8 GTPase selectively regulates AP-1B-dependent basolateral transport in polarized Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 163: 339-350, 2003.

6. Ang AL, Taguchi T, Francis S, Folsch H, Murrells LJ, Pypaert M, Warren G, and Mellman I. Recycling endosomes can serve as intermediates during transport from the Golgi to the plasma membrane of MDCK cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 167: 531-543, 2004.

7. **Apodaca G, Katz LA, and Mostov KE.** Receptor-mediated transcytosis of IgA in MDCK cells is via apical recycling endosomes. *J. Cell Biol.* 125: 67-86, 1994.

8. **Aroeti B and Mostov KE.** Polarized sorting of the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor in the exocytotic and endocytotic pathways is controlled by the same amino acids. *EMBO J.* 13: 2297-2304, 1994.

9. **Benting JH, Rietveld AG, and Simons K.** N-Glycans mediate the apical sorting of a GPI-anchored, raft-associated protein in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 146: 313-320, 1999.

10. **Boll W, Partin JS, Katz AI, Caplan MJ, and Jamieson JD.** Distinct pathways for basolateral targeting of membrane and secretory proteins in polarized epithelial cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 88: 8592-8596, 1991.

11. Bonazzi M, Spano S, Turacchio G, Cericola C, Valente C, Colanzi A, Kweon HS, Hsu VW, Polishchuck EV, Polishchuck RS, Sallese M, Pulvirenti T, Corda D, and Luini A. CtBP3/BARS drives membrane fission in dynamin-independent transport pathways. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 7: 570-580, 2005.

12. **Bonifacino JS and Traub LM.** Signals for Sorting of Transmembrane Proteins to Endosomes and Lysosomes. *Annu Rev Biochem* 72: 395-447, 2003.

13. **Boulan ER and Sabatini DD.** Asymmetric budding of viruses in epithelial monlayers: a model system for study of epithelial polarity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 75: 5071-5075, 1978.

Braccia A, Villani M, Immerdal L, Niels-Christiansen LL, Nystrom BT, Hansen GH, and Danielsen EM. Microvillar membrane microdomains exist at physiological temperature. Role of galectin-4 as lipid raft stabilizer revealed by "superrafts". *J. Biol. Chem.* 278: 15679-15684, 2003.

15. **Brandli AW and Simons K.** A restricted set of apical proteins recycle through the trans-Golgi network in MDCK cells. *EMBO J.* 8: 3207-3213, 1989.

16. **Brewer CB and Roth MG.** A single amino acid change in the cytoplasmic domain alters the polarized delivery of influenza virus hemagglutinin. *J Cell Biol* 114: 413-421, 1991.

17. **Brown DA, Crise B, and Rose JK.** Mechanism of membrane anchoring affects polarized expression of two proteins in MDCK cells. *Science* 245: 1499-1501, 1989.

18. **Brown DA and Rose JK.** Sorting of GPI-anchored proteins to glycolipid-enriched membrane subdomains during transport to the apical cell surface. *Cell* 68: 533-544, 1992.

19. **Brown PS, Wang E, Aroeti B, Chapin SJ, Mostov KE, and Dunn KW.** Definition of distinct compartments in polarized Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells for membrane-volume sorting, polarized sorting and apical recycling. *Traffic* 1: 124-140, 2000.

20. Caplan MJ, Stow JL, Newman AP, Madri J, Anderson HC, Farquhar MG, Palade GE, and Jamieson JD. Dependence on pH of polarized sorting of secreted proteins. *Nature* 329: 632-635, 1987.

21. **Casanova JE, Apodaca G, and Mostov KE.** An autonomous signal for basolateral sorting in the cytoplasmic domain of the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor. *Cell* 66: 65-75, 1991.

22. Chan JY, Lee-Prudhoe JE, Jorgensen B, Ihrke G, Doyonnas R, Zannettino AC, Buckle VJ, Ward CJ, Simmons PJ, and Watt SM. Relationship between novel isoforms, functionally important domains, and subcellular distribution of CD164/endolyn. *J Biol Chem* 276: 2139-2152, 2001.

23. **Chuang JZ and Sung CH.** The cytoplasmic tail of rhodopsin acts as a novel apical sorting signal in polarized MDCK cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 142: 1245-1256, 1998.

24. **Croze E, Ivanov IE, Kreibich G, Adesnik M, Sabatini DD, and Rosenfeld MG.** Endolyn-78, a membrane glycoprotein present in morphologically diverse components of the endosomal and lysosomal compartments: implications for lysosome biogenesis. *J Cell Biol* 108: 1597-1613, 1989.

25. **Damke H, Baba T, van der Bliek AM, and Schmid SL.** Clathrin-independent pinocytosis is induced in cells overexpressing a temperature-sensitive mutant of dynamin. *J. Cell Biol.* 131: 69-80, 1995.

26. **Delacour D, Cramm-Behrens CI, Drobecq H, Le Bivic A, Naim HY, and Jacob R.** Requirement for galectin-3 in apical protein sorting. *Curr Biol.* 16: 408-414, 2006.

27. Delacour D, Gouyer V, Zanetta JP, Drobecq H, Leteurtre E, Grard G, Moreau-Hannedouche O, Maes E, Pons A, Andre S, Le Bivic A, Gabius HJ, Manninen A, Simons K, and Huet G. Galectin-4 and sulfatides in apical membrane trafficking in enterocyte-like cells. J. Cell Biol. 169: 491-501, 2005.

28. **Doyonnas R, Yi-Hsin Chan J, Butler LH, Rappold I, Lee-Prudhoe JE, Zannettino AC, Simmons PJ, Buhring HJ, Levesque JP, and Watt SM.** CD164 monoclonal antibodies that block hemopoietic progenitor cell adhesion and proliferation interact with the first mucin domain of the CD164 receptor. *J. Immunol.* 165: 840-851, 2000.

29. Ellis MA, Miedel MT, Guerriero CJ, and Weisz OA. ADP-ribosylation factor 1independent protein sorting and export from the trans-Golgi network. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279: 52735-52743, 2004.

30. **Fehrenbacher KL, Boldogh IR, and Pon LA.** Taking the A-train: actin-based force generators and organelle targeting. *Trends Cell Biol* 13: 472-477, 2003.

Fiedler K, Parton RG, Kellner R, Etzold T, and Simons K. VIP36, a novel component of glycolipid rafts and exocytic carrier vesicles in epithelial cells. *Embo J.* 13: 1729-1740, 1994.
Folsch H. The building blocks for basolateral vesicles in polarized epithelial cells.

Trends Cell Biol 15: 222-228, 2005.

33. **Folsch H, Pypaert M, Schu P, and Mellman I.** Distribution and function of AP-1 clathrin adaptor complexes in polarized epithelial cells. *J Cell Biol* 152: 595-606, 2001.

34. **Fujimoto K and Kornfeld R.** alpha-Glucosidase II-deficient cells use endo alphamannosidase as a bypass route for N-linked oligosaccharide processing. *J. Biol. Chem.* 266: 3571-3578, 1991.

35. **Fullekrug J, Scheiffele P, and Simons K.** VIP36 localisation to the early secretory pathway. *J Cell Sci* 112 (Pt 17): 2813-2821, 1999.

36. **Futter CE, Connolly CN, Cutler DF, and Hopkins CR.** Newly synthesized transferrin receptors can be detected in the endosome before they appear on the cell surface. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270: 10999-11003, 1995.

37. Futter CE, Gibson A, Allchin EH, Maxwell S, Ruddock LJ, Odorizzi G, Domingo D, Trowbridge IS, and Hopkins CR. In polarized MDCK cells basolateral vesicles arise from clathrin-gamma-adaptin-coated domains on endosomal tubules. *J. Cell Biol.* 141: 611-623, 1998.

38. Gan Y, McGraw TE, and Rodriguez-Boulan E. The epithelial-specific adaptor AP1B mediates post-endocytic recycling to the basolateral membrane. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 4: 605-609, 2002.

39. **Gouyer V, Leteurtre E, Zanetta JP, Lesuffleur T, Delannoy P, and Huet G.** Inhibition of the glycosylation and alteration in the intracellular trafficking of mucins and other glycoproteins by GalNAcalpha-O-bn in mucosal cell lines: an effect mediated through the intracellular synthesis of complex GalNAcalpha-O-bn oligosaccharides. *Front Biosci.* 6: D1235-1244, 2001.

40. **Guerriero CJ, Weixel KM, Bruns JR, and Weisz OA.** Phosphatidylinositol 5-kinase stimulates apical biosynthetic delivery via an Arp2/3-dependent mechanism. *J Biol Chem*, 2006.

41. Gulberti S, Lattard V, Fondeur M, Jacquinet JC, Mulliert G, Netter P, Magdalou J, Ouzzine M, and Fournel-Gigleux S. Phosphorylation and sulfation of oligosaccharide substrates critically influence the activity of human beta1,4-galactosyltransferase 7 (GalT-I) and beta1,3-glucuronosyltransferase I (GlcAT-I) involved in the biosynthesis of the glycosaminoglycan-protein linkage region of proteoglycans. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280: 1417-1425, 2005.

42. Gut A, Kappeler F, Hyka N, Balda MS, Hauri HP, and Matter K. Carbohydratemediated Golgi to cell surface transport and apical targeting of membrane proteins. *EMBO J.* 17: 1919-1929, 1998.

43. Hang HC, Yu C, Ten Hagen KG, Tian E, Winans KA, Tabak LA, and Bertozzi CR. Small molecule inhibitors of mucin-type O-linked glycosylation from a uridine-based library. *Chem. Biol.* 11: 337-345, 2004.

44. **Hara-Kuge S, Ohkura T, Ideo H, Shimada O, Atsumi S, and Yamashita K.** Involvement of VIP36 in intracellular transport and secretion of glycoproteins in polarized Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277: 16332-16339, 2002. 45. **Hauri H, Appenzeller C, Kuhn F, and Nufer O.** Lectins and traffic in the secretory pathway. *FEBS Lett.* 476: 32-37, 2000.

46. Heine M, Cramm-Behrens CI, Ansari A, Chu HP, Ryazanov AG, Naim HY, and Jacob R. Alpha-kinase 1, a new component in apical protein transport. *J Biol Chem* 280: 25637-25643, 2005.

47. **Helenius A and Aebi M.** Intracellular functions of N-linked glycans. *Science* 291: 2364-2369, 2001.

48. Henkel JR, Apodaca G, Altschuler Y, Hardy S, and Weisz OA. Selective perturbation of apical membrane traffic by expression of influenza M2, an acid-activated ion channel, in polarized madin-darby canine kidney cells. *Mol Biol Cell* 9: 2477-2490, 1998.

49. **Henkel JR and Weisz OA.** Influenza virus M2 protein slows traffic along the secretory pathway. pH perturbation of acidified compartments affects early Golgi transport steps. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273: 6518-6524, 1998.

50. Hirschberg K, Miller CM, Ellenberg J, Presley JF, Siggia ED, Phair RD, and Lippincott-Schwartz J. Kinetic analysis of secretory protein traffic and characterization of golgi to plasma membrane transport intermediates in living cells. *J Cell Biol* 143: 1485-1503, 1998.

51. **Hodson CA, Ambrogi IG, Scott RO, Mohler PJ, and Milgram SL.** Polarized apical sorting of guanylyl cyclase C is specified by a cytosolic signal. *Traffic* 7: 456-464, 2006.

52. **Honing S and Hunziker W.** Cytoplasmic determinants involved in direct lysosomal sorting, endocytosis, and basolateral targeting of rat lgp120 (lamp-I) in MDCK cells. *J Cell Biol* 128: 321-332, 1995.

53. **Hua W, Sheff D, Toomre D, and Mellman I.** Vectorial insertion of apical and basolateral membrane proteins in polarized epithelial cells revealed by quantitative 3D live cell imaging. *J. Cell Biol.* 172: 1035-1044, 2006.

54. **Huang J, Byrd JC, Yoon WH, and Kim YS.** Effect of benzyl-alpha-GalNAc, an inhibitor of mucin glycosylation, on cancer-associated antigens in human colon cancer cells. *Oncol Res* 4: 507-515, 1992.

55. **Huet G, Gouyer V, Delacour D, Richet C, Zanetta JP, Delannoy P, and Degand P.** Involvement of glycosylation in the intracellular trafficking of glycoproteins in polarized epithelial cells. *Biochimie* 85: 323-330, 2003.

56. Hughes RC. Galectins in kidney development. *Glycoconj J* 19: 621-629, 2004.

57. **Hughes RC.** Secretion of the galectin family of mammalian carbohydrate-binding proteins. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1473: 172-185, 1999.

58. **Hunziker W and Fumey C.** A di-leucine motif mediates endocytosis and basolateral sorting of macrophage IgG Fc receptors in MDCK cells. *Embo J* 13: 2963-2969, 1994.

59. **Hunziker W and Geuze HJ.** Intracellular trafficking of lysosomal membrane proteins. *Bioessays* 18: 379-389, 1996.

60. **Hunziker W, Harter C, Matter K, and Mellman I.** Basolateral sorting in MDCK cells requires a distinct cytoplasmic domain determinant. *Cell* 66: 907-920, 1991.

61. **Ihrke G, Bruns JR, Luzio JP, and Weisz OA.** Competing sorting signals guide endolyn along a novel route to lysosomes in MDCK cells. *EMBO J.* 20: 6256-6264, 2001.

62. **Ihrke G, Gray SR, and Luzio JP.** Endolyn is a mucin-like type I membrane protein targeted to lysosomes by its cytoplasmic tail. *Biochem. J.* 345 Pt 2: 287-296, 2000.

63. **Ihrke G, Kyttala A, Russell MR, Rous BA, and Luzio JP.** Differential use of two AP-3-mediated pathways by lysosomal membrane proteins. *Traffic* 5: 946-962, 2004. 64. **Ihrke G, Martin GV, Shanks MR, Schrader M, Schroer TA, and Hubbard AL.** Apical plasma membrane proteins and endolyn-78 travel through a subapical compartment in polarized WIF-B hepatocytes. *J. Cell Biol.* 141: 115-133, 1998.

65. Ihrke G, Neufeld EB, Meads T, Shanks MR, Cassio D, Laurent M, Schroer TA, Pagano RE, and Hubbard AL. WIF-B cells: an in vitro model for studies of hepatocyte polarity. *J. Cell Biol.* 123: 1761-1775, 1993.

66. **Ikonen E and Simons K.** Protein and lipid sorting from the trans-Golgi network to the plasma membrane in polarized cells. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 9: 503-509, 1998.

67. **Jacob R, Alfalah M, Grunberg J, Obendorf M, and Naim HY.** Structural determinants required for apical sorting of an intestinal brush-border membrane protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275: 6566-6572, 2000.

68. **Jacob R, Heine M, Alfalah M, and Naim HY.** Distinct cytoskeletal tracks direct individual vesicle populations to the apical membrane of epithelial cells. *Curr Biol* 13: 607-612, 2003.

69. **Jacob R and Naim HY.** Apical membrane proteins are transported in distinct vesicular carriers. *Curr Biol* 11: 1444-1450, 2001.

70. **Keller P and Simons K.** Cholesterol is required for surface transport of influenza virus hemagglutinin. *J. Cell Biol.* 140: 1357-1367, 1998.

71. Keller P, Toomre D, Diaz E, White J, and Simons K. Multicolour imaging of post-Golgi sorting and trafficking in live cells. *Nat Cell Biol* 3: 140-149, 2001.

72. **Kipp H and Arias IM.** Newly synthesized canalicular ABC transporters are directly targeted from the Golgi to the hepatocyte apical domain in rat liver. *J Biol Chem* 275: 15917-15925, 2000.

73. **Kitagawa Y, Sano Y, Ueda M, Higashio K, Narita H, Okano M, Matsumoto S, and Sasaki R.** N-glycosylation of erythropoietin is critical for apical secretion by Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. *Exp. Cell Res.* 213: 449-457, 1994.

74. **Kornfeld R and Kornfeld S.** Assembly of asparagine-linked oligosaccharides. *Annu Rev Biochem* 54: 631-664, 1985.

75. **Kuhn U, Cohn DV, and Gorr SU.** Polarized secretion of the regulated secretory protein chromogranin A. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 270: 631-636, 2000.

76. **Kundu A, Avalos RT, Sanderson CM, and Nayak DP.** Transmembrane domain of influenza virus neuraminidase, a type II protein, possesses an apical sorting signal in polarized MDCK cells. *J Virol* 70: 6508-6515, 1996.

77. Lafont F, Lecat S, Verkade P, and Simons K. Annexin XIIIb associates with lipid microdomains to function in apical delivery. *J. Cell Biol.* 142: 1413-1427, 1998.

78. Lapierre LA, Kumar R, Hales CM, Navarre J, Bhartur SG, Burnette JO, Provance DW, Jr., Mercer JA, Bahler M, and Goldenring JR. Myosin vb is associated with plasma membrane recycling systems. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 12: 1843-1857, 2001.

79. Le Bivic A, Garcia M, and Rodriguez-Boulan E. Ricin-resistant Madin-Darby canine kidney cells missort a major endogenous apical sialoglycoprotein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268: 6909-6916, 1993.

80. Lee YN, Kang JS, and Krauss RS. Identification of a role for the sialomucin CD164 in myogenic differentiation by signal sequence trapping in yeast. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 21: 7696-7706, 2001.

81. Leitinger B, Hille-Rehfeld A, and Spiess M. Biosynthetic transport of the asialoglycoprotein receptor H1 to the cell surface occurs via endosomes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 92: 10109-10113, 1995.

82. **Lipardi C, Nitsch L, and Zurzolo C.** Detergent-insoluble GPI-anchored proteins are apically sorted in fischer rat thyroid cells, but interference with cholesterol or sphingolipids differentially affects detergent insolubility and apical sorting. *Mol Biol Cell* 11: 531-542, 2000.

83. **Lisanti MP, Caras IW, Davitz MA, and Rodriguez-Boulan E.** A glycophospholipid membrane anchor acts as an apical targeting signal in polarized epithelial cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 109: 2145-2156, 1989.

84. **Lisanti MP, Le Bivic A, Saltiel AR, and Rodriguez-Boulan E.** Preferred apical distribution of glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchored proteins: a highly conserved feature of the polarized epithelial cell phenotype. *J Membr Biol* 113: 155-167, 1990.

85. **Lock JG and Stow JL.** Rab11 in recycling endosomes regulates the sorting and basolateral transport of E-cadherin. *Mol Biol Cell* 16: 1744-1755, 2005.

86. **Madrid R, Le Maout S, Barrault MB, Janvier K, Benichou S, and Merot J.** Polarized trafficking and surface expression of the AQP4 water channel are coordinated by serial and regulated interactions with different clathrin-adaptor complexes. *Embo J* 20: 7008-7021, 2001.

87. **Martin-Belmonte F, Arvan P, and Alonso MA.** MAL mediates apical transport of secretory proteins in polarized epithelial Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276: 49337-49342, 2001.

88. Martinez-Maza R, Poyatos I, Lopez-Corcuera B, E Nu, Gimenez C, Zafra F, and Aragon C. The role of N-glycosylation in transport to the plasma membrane and sorting of the neuronal glycine transporter GLYT2. *J Biol Chem* 276: 2168-2173, 2001.

89. **Marzolo MP, Bull P, and Gonzalez A.** Apical sorting of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) is independent of N-glycosylation and glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored protein segregation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 94: 1834-1839, 1997.

90. **Matlin KS and Simons K.** Reduced temperature prevents transfer of a membrane glycoprotein to the cell surface but does not prevent terminal glycosylation. *Cell* 34: 233-243, 1983.

91. **Matter K, Hunziker W, and Mellman I.** Basolateral sorting of LDL receptor in MDCK cells: the cytoplasmic domain contains two tyrosine-dependent targeting determinants. *Cell* 71: 741-753, 1992.

92. **Matter K, McDowell W, Schwartz RT, and Hauri HP.** Asynchronous transport to the cell surface of intestinal brush border hydrolases is not due to differential trimming of N-linked oligosaccharides. *J Biol Chem* 264: 13131-13139, 1989.

93. Matter K, Whitney JA, Yamamoto EM, and Mellman I. Common signals control low density lipoprotein receptor sorting in endosomes and the Golgi complex of MDCK cells. *Cell* 74: 1053-1064, 1993.

94. **Mellman I.** Endocytosis and molecular sorting. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* 12: 575-625, 1996.

95. **Mostov KE, de Bruyn Kops A, and Deitcher DL.** Deletion of the cytoplasmic domain of the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor prevents basolateral localization and endocytosis. *Cell* 47: 359-364, 1986.

96. **Musch A, Cohen D, Kreitzer G, and Rodriguez-Boulan E.** cdc42 regulates the exit of apical and basolateral proteins from the trans-Golgi network. *EMBO J.* 20: 2171-2179, 2001.

97. **Musch A, Xu H, Shields D, and Rodriguez-Boulan E.** Transport of vesicular stomatitis virus G protein to the cell surface is signal mediated in polarized and nonpolarized cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 133: 543-558, 1996.

98. **Nabi IR, Le Bivic A, Fambrough D, and Rodriguez-Boulan E.** An endogenous MDCK lysosomal membrane glycoprotein is targeted basolaterally before delivery to lysosomes. *J. Cell Biol.* 115: 1573-1584, 1991.

99. Naim HY, Dodds DT, Brewer CB, and Roth MG. Apical and basolateral coated pits of MDCK cells differ in their rates of maturation into coated vesicles, but not in the ability to distinguish between mutant hemagglutinin proteins with different internalization signals. *J Cell Biol* 129: 1241-1250, 1995.

100. **Naim HY, Joberty G, Alfalah M, and Jacob R.** Temporal association of the N- and Olinked glycosylation events and their implication in the polarized sorting of intestinal brush border sucrase-isomaltase, aminopeptidase N, and dipeptidyl peptidase IV. *J Biol Chem* 274: 17961-17967, 1999.

101. **Nelson WJ and Yeaman C.** Protein trafficking in the exocytic pathway of polarized epithelial cells. *Trends Cell Biol.* 11: 483-486, 2001.

102. **Nishimura N, Plutner H, Hahn K, and Balch WE.** The delta subunit of AP-3 is required for efficient transport of VSV-G from the trans-Golgi network to the cell surface. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 99: 6755-6760, 2002.

103. **Nyasae LK, Hubbard AL, and Tuma PL.** Transcytotic efflux from early endosomes is dependent on cholesterol and glycosphingolipids in polarized hepatic cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 14: 2689-2705, 2003.

104. **Obermuller S, Kiecke C, von Figura K, and Honing S.** The tyrosine motifs of Lamp 1 and LAP determine their direct and indirect targetting to lysosomes. *J. Cell Sci.* 115: 185-194, 2002.

105. **Odorizzi G, Pearse A, Domingo D, Trowbridge IS, and Hopkins CR.** Apical and basolateral endosomes of MDCK cells are interconnected and contain a polarized sorting mechanism. *J. Cell Biol* 135: 139-152, 1996.

106. **Odorizzi G and Trowbridge IS.** Structural requirements for basolateral sorting of the human transferrin receptor in the biosynthetic and endocytic pathways of Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 137: 1255-1264, 1997.

107. **Orzech E, Cohen S, Weiss A, and Aroeti B.** Interactions between the exocytic and endocytic pathways in polarized Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275: 15207-15219, 2000.

108. **Orzech E, Schlessinger K, Weiss A, Okamoto CT, and Aroeti B.** Interactions of the AP-1 Golgi adaptor with the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor and their possible role in mediating brefeldin A-sensitive basolateral targeting from the trans-Golgi network. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274: 2201-2215, 1999.

109. **Paladino S, Sarnataro D, Pillich R, Tivodar S, Nitsch L, and Zurzolo C.** Protein oligomerization modulates raft partitioning and apical sorting of GPI-anchored proteins. *J. Cell Biol.* 167: 699-709, 2004.

110. **Paladino S, Sarnataro D, and Zurzolo C.** Detergent-resistant membrane microdomains and apical sorting of GPI-anchored proteins in polarized epithelial cells. *Int. J. Med Microbiol.* 291: 439-445, 2002.

111. **Pang S, Urquhart P, and Hooper NM.** N-glycans, not the GPI anchor, mediate the apical targeting of a naturally glycosylated, GPI-anchored protein in polarised epithelial cells. *J. Cell Sci.* 117: 5079-5086, 2004.

112. **Parczyk K and Koch-Brandt C.** The role of carbohydrates in vectorial exocytosis. The secretion of the gp 80 glycoprotein complex in a ricin-resistant mutant of MDCK cells. *FEBS Lett.* 278: 267-270, 1991.

113. **Polishchuk R, Di Pentima A, and Lippincott-Schwartz J.** Delivery of raft-associated, GPI-anchored proteins to the apical surface of polarized MDCK cells by a transcytotic pathway. *Nat Cell Biol* 6: 297-307, 2004.

114. **Potter BA, Hughey RP, and Weisz OA.** Role of N- and O-glycans in polarized biosynthetic sorting. *Am. J Physiol Cell Physiol.* 290: C1-C10, 2006.

115. **Potter BA, Ihrke G, Bruns JR, Weixel KM, and Weisz OA.** Specific N-glycans direct apical delivery of transmembrane, but not soluble or glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored forms of endolyn in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. *Mol Biol Cell* 15: 1407-1416, 2004.

116. **Rindler MJ, Ivanov IE, Plesken H, and Sabatini DD.** Polarized delivery of viral glycoproteins to the apical and basolateral plasma membranes of Madin-Darby canine kidney cells infected with temperature-sensitive viruses. *J Cell Biol* 100: 136-151, 1985.

117. **Rodriguez-Boulan E and Gonzalez A.** Glycans in post-Golgi apical targeting: sorting signals or structural props? *Trends Cell Biol.* 9: 291-294, 1999.

118. **Rodriguez-Boulan E, Kreitzer G, and Musch A.** Organization of vesicular trafficking in epithelia. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 6: 233-247, 2005.

119. Rozelle AL, Machesky LM, Yamamoto M, Driessens MH, Insall RH, Roth MG, Luby-Phelps K, Marriott G, Hall A, and Yin HL. Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate induces actin-based movement of raft-enriched vesicles through WASP-Arp2/3. *Curr. Biol.* 10: 311-320, 2000.

120. **Rustom A, Bajohrs M, Kaether C, Keller P, Toomre D, Corbeil D, and Gerdes HH.** Selective delivery of secretory cargo in Golgi-derived carriers of nonepithelial cells. *Traffic* 3: 279-288, 2002.

121. Scheiffele P and Fullekrug J. Glycosylation and protein transport. *Essays Biochem* 36: 27-35, 2000.

122. Scheiffele P, Peranen J, and Simons K. N-glycans as apical sorting signals in epithelial cells. *Nature* 378: 96-98, 1995.

123. Schroeder RJ, Ahmed SN, Zhu Y, London E, and Brown DA. Cholesterol and sphingolipid enhance the Triton X-100 insolubility of glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored proteins by promoting the formation of detergent-insoluble ordered membrane domains. *J Biol Chem* 273: 1150-1157, 1998.

124. Schuck S and Simons K. Polarized sorting in epithelial cells: raft clustering and the biogenesis of the apical membrane. *J. Cell Sci.* 117: 5955-5964, 2004.

125. Shin K, Fogg VC, and Margolis B. Tight Junctions and Cell Polarity. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev Biol*, 2006.

126. **Simmen T, Honing S, Icking A, Tikkanen R, and Hunziker W.** AP-4 binds basolateral signals and participates in basolateral sorting in epithelial MDCK cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 4: 154-159, 2002.

127. **Simons K and Ikonen E.** Functional rafts in cell membranes. *Nature* 387: 569-572, 1997.

128. Simons K and Wandinger-Ness A. Polarized sorting in epithelia. *Cell* 62: 207-210, 1990.

129. **Skibbens JE, Roth MG, and Matlin KS.** Differential extractability of influenza virus hemagglutinin during intracellular transport in polarized epithelial cells and nonpolar fibroblasts. *J. Cell Biol.* 108: 821-832, 1989.

130. **Spodsberg N, Alfalah M, and Naim HY.** Characteristics and structural requirements of apical sorting of the rat growth hormone through the O-glycosylated stalk region of intestinal sucrase-isomaltase. *J. Biol Chem.* 276: 46597-46604, 2001.

131. **Stein M, Wandinger-Ness A, and Roitbak T.** Altered trafficking and epithelial cell polarity in disease. *Trends Cell Biol.* 12: 374-381, 2002.

132. **Stenmark H, Aasland R, Toh BH, and D'Arrigo A.** Endosomal localization of the autoantigen EEA1 is mediated by a zinc-binding FYVE finger. *J. Biol Chem* 271: 24048-24054, 1996.

133. **Takeda T, Yamazaki H, and Farquhar MG.** Identification of an apical sorting determinant in the cytoplasmic tail of megalin. *Am. J. Physiol Cell Physiol* 284: C1105-1113, 2003.

134. **Tall RD, Alonso MA, and Roth MG.** Features of influenza HA required for apical sorting differ from those required for association with DRMs or MAL. *Traffic* 4: 838-849, 2003.

135. **Toomre D, Keller P, White J, Olivo JC, and Simons K.** Dual-color visualization of trans-Golgi network to plasma membrane traffic along microtubules in living cells. *J. Cell Sci* 112 (Pt 1): 21-33, 1999.

136. **Trugnan G, Rousset M, Chantret I, Barbat A, and Zweibaum A.** The posttranslational processing of sucrase-isomaltase in HT-29 cells is a function of their state of enterocytic differentiation. *J. Cell Biol.* 104: 1199-1205, 1987.

137. **Tveit H, Dick G, Skibeli V, and Prydz K.** A proteoglycan undergoes different modifications en route to the apical and basolateral surfaces of Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280: 29596-29603, 2005.

138. Urban J, Parczyk K, Leutz A, Kayne M, and Kondor-Koch C. Constitutive apical secretion of an 80-kD sulfated glycoprotein complex in the polarized epithelial Madin-Darby canine kidney cell line. *J Cell Biol* 105: 2735-2743, 1987.

139. **Vagin O, Turdikulova S, and Sachs G.** The H,K-ATPase beta subunit as a model to study the role of N-glycosylation in membrane trafficking and apical sorting. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279: 39026-39034, 2004.

140. Van Klinken BJ, Dekker J, Buller HA, and Einerhand AW. Mucin gene structure and expression: protection vs. adhesion. *Am. J. Physiol.* 269: G613-627, 1995.

141. van Meer G and Simons K. Lipid polarity and sorting in epithelial cells. J. Cell Biochem. 36: 51-58, 1988.

142. **Varki A.** Selectin ligands: will the real ones please stand up? *J. Clin. Invest.* 99: 158-162, 1997.

143. **Varma R and Mayor S.** GPI-anchored proteins are organized in submicron domains at the cell surface. *Nature* 394: 798-801, 1998.

144. **Vega-Salas DE, Salas PJ, and Rodriguez-Boulan E.** Exocytosis of vacuolar apical compartment (VAC): a cell-cell contact controlled mechanism for the establishment of the apical plasma membrane domain in epithelial cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 107: 1717-1728, 1988.

145. **Vuong TT, Prydz K, and Tveit H.** Differences in the apical and basolateral pathways for glycosaminoglycan biosynthesis in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. *Glycobiology* 16: 326-332, 2006.

146. **Wagner M, Morgans C, and Koch-Brandt C.** The oligosaccharides have an essential but indirect role in sorting gp80 (clusterin, TRPM-2) to the apical surface of MDCK cells. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 67: 84-88, 1995.

147. **Wandinger-Ness A, Bennett MK, Antony C, and Simons K.** Distinct transport vesicles mediate the delivery of plasma membrane proteins to the apical and basolateral domains of MDCK cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 111: 987-1000, 1990.

148. **Wang E, Brown PS, Aroeti B, Chapin SJ, Mostov KE, and Dunn KW.** Apical and basolateral endocytic pathways of MDCK cells meet in acidic common endosomes distinct from a nearly-neutral apical recycling endosome. *Traffic* 1: 480-493, 2000.

149. **Wang X, Kumar R, Navarre J, Casanova JE, and Goldenring JR.** Regulation of vesicle trafficking in madin-darby canine kidney cells by Rab11a and Rab25. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275: 29138-29146, 2000.

150. Watt SM, Butler LH, Tavian M, Buhring HJ, Rappold I, Simmons PJ, Zannettino AC, Buck D, Fuchs A, Doyonnas R, Chan JY, Levesque JP, Peault B, and Roxanis I.

Functionally defined CD164 epitopes are expressed on CD34(+) cells throughout ontogeny but display distinct distribution patterns in adult hematopoietic and nonhematopoietic tissues. *Blood* 95: 3113-3124, 2000.

151. Weisz OA, Swift AM, and Machamer CE. Oligomerization of a membrane protein correlates with its retention in the Golgi complex. *J. Cell Biol.* 122: 1185-1196, 1993.

152. Yeaman C, Ayala MI, Wright JR, Bard F, Bossard C, Ang A, Maeda Y, Seufferlein T, Mellman I, Nelson WJ, and Malhotra V. Protein kinase D regulates basolateral membrane protein exit from trans-Golgi network. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 6: 106-112, 2004.

153. Yeaman C, Le Gall AH, Baldwin AN, Monlauzeur L, Le Bivic A, and Rodriguez-Boulan E. The O-glycosylated stalk domain is required for apical sorting of neurotrophin receptors in polarized MDCK cells. J. Cell Biol. 139: 929-940, 1997.

154. **Yoshimori T, Keller P, Roth MG, and Simons K.** Different biosynthetic transport routes to the plasma membrane in BHK and CHO cells. *J. Cell Biol*.133: 247-256, 1996.

155. **Youakim A, Romero PA, Yee K, Carlsson SR, Fukuda M, and Herscovics A.** Decrease in polylactosaminoglycans associated with lysosomal membrane glycoproteins during differentiation of CaCo-2 human colonic adenocarcinoma cells. *Cancer Res.* 49: 6889-6895, 1989.

156. **Zannettino AC, Buhring HJ, Niutta S, Watt SM, Benton MA, and Simmons PJ.** The sialomucin CD164 (MGC-24v) is an adhesive glycoprotein expressed by human hematopoietic progenitors and bone marrow stromal cells that serves as a potent negative regulator of hematopoiesis. *Blood* 92: 2613-2628, 1998.

157. Zegers MM and Hoekstra D. Mechanisms and functional features of polarized membrane traffic in epithelial and hepatic cells. *Biochem. J.* 336 (Pt 2): 257-269, 1998.

158. **Zurzolo C, Lisanti MP, Caras IW, Nitsch L, and Rodriguez-Boulan E.** Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored proteins are preferentially targeted to the basolateral surface in Fischer rat thyroid epithelial cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 121: 1031-1039, 1993.